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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 

 

To the shareholders of Aydem Yenilenebilir Enerji Anonim Şirketi : 

 

Report on the audit of the consolidated financial statements  

 

Opinion 
 

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Aydem Yenilenebilir Enerji A.Ş. (the 

Company) and its subsidiaries (the Group), which comprise the consolidated statement of financial 

position as at 31 December 2021, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other 

comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash 

flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary 

of significant accounting policies. 

 

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material 

respects, the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2021 and its consolidated 

financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with 

International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs). 

 

Basis for opinion 

 
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our 
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit 
of the consolidated financial statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group in 
accordance with the International Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (including International 
Independence Standards) (IESBA Code) together with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our 
audit of the consolidated financial statements in Turkey, and we have fulfilled our other ethical 
responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and the IESBA Code. We believe that the audit 
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 
 
Key Audit Matters 
 

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our 
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the 
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming the auditor’s 
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. For each matter below, our 
description of how our audit addressed the matter is provided in that context. 
 
We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the 
consolidated financial statements section of our report, including in relation to these matters.  
Accordingly, our audit included the performance of procedures designed to respond to our assessment 
of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements. The results of our audit 
procedures, including the procedures performed to address the matters below, provide the basis for our 
audit opinion on the accompanying consolidated financial statements. 
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Key Audit Matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter 

Valuation of power plants   

 

Power plants comprises 90% of total assets of 

the Group as at 31 December 2021. The Group 

measures power plants using the revaluation 

method as stated in Note 2.8 in the consolidated 

financial statements; therefore, management 

makes estimates and uses assumptions to 

determine those fair values. The fair value is 

measured, as explained in note 2.8 to the 

consolidated financial statements, based on 

appraisal reports by independent and external 

appraisers. For the valuations, estimates are 

made of the expected future cash flows taking 

into account the related risks. 

 

Detailed explanations on property, plant and 

equipment are provided in Note 2.8 and Note 8.1 

to the consolidated financial statements. 

 

Since the valuation of power plants is complex 

and highly dependent on estimates and 

assumptions, and also given the magnitude of 

the amounts involved, we consider the valuation 

of power plants as a key audit matter.  

 

Among the other audit procedures we performed, 

we assessed the qualifications, competencies and 

independence of the professional appraisers 

engaged by the management.  

 

We have evaluated the appropriateness of the 

information and assumptions used in the valuations. 

These include the estimates by the external appraisal 

firms (such as the market price, production volume 

and discount rate). For this assessment, we involved 

valuation experts of a firm which is in our audit 

network to support our audit. We assessed whether 

the valuation methods as applied by appraisers are 

acceptable for the valuation of the power plants. 

 

In addition, we have assessed the appropriateness of 

the disclosures in the consolidated financial 

statements and notes regarding the above-

mentioned accounting policy, estimates used and 

the valuation methodology and their conformity to 

IFRS. 

 

  

 



 

 

 
 

 
A member firm of Ernst & Young Global Limited 

3 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
Responsibilities of management and those charged with governance for the consolidated financial 
statements 
 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial 

statements in accordance with IFRSs, and for such internal control as management determines is 

necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material 

misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 
 

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Group’s 

ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and 

using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Group or 

to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 
 

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process. 
 

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements 
 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements 

as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s 

report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee 

that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it 

exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the 

aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the 

basis of these consolidated financial statements. 
 

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain 

professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also: 
 

- Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, 

whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain 

audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not 

detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as 

fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of 

internal control. 
 

- Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 

procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion 

on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control. 
 

- Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 

estimates and related disclosures made by management. 
 

- Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting 

and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or 

conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we 

conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to 

the related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to 

modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our 

auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a 

going concern. 
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- Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, 

including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying 

transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation. 

 

- Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities 

or business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. 

We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain solely 

responsible for our audit opinion. 

 

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned 

scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in 

internal control that we identify during our audit. 

 

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant 

ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other 

matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, actions taken 

to eliminate threats or safeguards applied. 

 

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those matters that 

were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and 

are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or 

regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we 

determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of 

doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication. 

 

 

 

 

Güney Bağımsız Denetim ve Serbest Muhasebeci Mali Müşavirlik Anonim Şirketi  

A member firm of Ernst & Young Global Limited 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Onur Ünal, SMMM 

Partner 

 

 

 

4 March 2022 

İstanbul, Turkey 
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The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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(*) In accordance with the third sub article of article numbered 519 of Turkish Commercial Code, The Group Management decided to transfer the share premiums 

amounting to TL 1,310,500,000 to offset accumulated losses with general assembly decision taken on 26 February 2020. 

(**) With the decision of the Board of Directors dated 26 April 2021 and numbered 11, the Company's issued capital increased by TL 5,000,000 in cash and was 

registered with the Turkish Trade Registry Gazette dated 10 June 2021 and numbered 10346. 

(***) 5,000,000 shares of the Company with a nominal value of 1 TL were offered to the public on 29 April 2021 and were sold at TL 9.9 per share. The amount of TL 

5,000,000 was used in the capital increase and the remaining portion was recorded in the "Share Premium / (Discounts)" account. Expenses amounting to TL 4,401,480 

incurred within the scope of initial public offering was deducted from Share Premium / (Discount) within the scope of IAS 32. 

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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1. Organization and nature of operations of the Group 
 

Aydem Yenilenebilir Enerji Anonim Şirketi (“Aydem Yenilenebilir” or “the Company”) was established 

on 6 July 1995 as Bereket Enerji Üretim Otoprodüktör Grubu Sanayi ve Ticaret Anonim Şirketi. The 

Company first changed its corporate name to Bereket Enerji Üretim Anonim Şirketi on 21 May 2004 and 

then on 27 December 2019, the Company changed again its corporate name to Aydem Yenilenebilir 

Enerji Anonim Şirketi. In 2019, the Company has been restructured in a way that it operates solely 

in  renewable energy generation business. In relation to the restructuring process, Aydem Yenilenebilir 

has merged with all of its subsidiaries which are operating in renewable energy generation business and 

disposed the non-relevant operations and subsdiaries and became a pure renewable energy generation 

Company. The Company has started to be traded on Borsa Istanbul as of 29 April 2021. 

 

In these consolidated financial statements, Aydem Yenilenebilir, its subsidiaries and its associate are 

referred to together as “the Group”. 

 
Aydem Yenilenebilir generates electricity from local renewable sources. The Group installed its first 
hydroelectric power plant (“HPP”) on the Bereket Çayı stream and continues to generate electricity with 
hydro, wind (“WPP”), bioenergy (“BIO”) and geothermal (“GPP”) in different regions of the country.  
 
The address of the registered office of the Group is as follows: 
 
Adalet Mah. Hasan Gönüllü Bulvarı No:15/1 Merkezefendi, Denizli. 
 
As of 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2020, the Group's subsidiaries (“subsidiaries”) and their main 

business activities are as follows: 

 

   Ownership Percentage 

Subsidiaries Location Main Activities 31 December 

2021 

31 December  

2020 

Ey-Tur Enerji Elektrik Üretim ve 

Ticaret Ltd. Şti. (“Ey-tur”) /HPP Kağızman/Kars Electricity generation by hydropower 100% 100% 

Başat Elektrik Üretim ve Ticaret 

Ltd. Şti. (“Başat”) / HPP Üzümlü/Erzincan Electricity generation by hydropower 100% 100% 

Sarı Perakende Enerji Satış ve 

Ticaret A.Ş. (“Sarı Perakende”) İzmir Trading of electricity 100% 100%  

Akköprü Yenilenebilir Enerji 

A.Ş. (”Akköprü”) (*) Muğla Electricity generation by hydropower (*) 100% - 
 

The Group sold its 50% share in Yalova RES Elektrik Üretim A.Ş. ("Yalova") to Aydem Holding on 30 

June 2020. The Group does not have any associates as of 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2020. 

 

(*) Akköprü Yenilenebilir Enerji A.Ş. ("Akköprü") was established on 15 October 2021. The Group was 

awarded the Akköprü Hydroelectric Power Plant with a capacity of 115 MWh in the tender held by The 

Republic of Turkey Prime Ministry Privatization administration on 23 September 2021. However, the 

tender was canceled on 19 January 2022 with the President's Decision and this decision was notified to 

our Company on 24 January 2022. 
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1. Organization and nature of operations of the Group (continued) 
 

As of 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2020, the number of employees of the Company and its 

subsidiaries and its associate are as shown in the table below: 

 
The Company and its subsidiaries 31 December 

2021 

31 December  

2020 

Aydem Yenilenebilir 537 519 

Sarı Perakende  
- - 

Ey-Tur 
- - 

Başat 
- - 

Akköprü 
- - 

Total 537 519 

 

Laws / regulations affecting the business activities 

 

The Group is subject to the regulations and communiques issued by the Energy Market (EMRA) and 

obliged to carry out electricity generation and sales activities in accordance with the Electricity Market 

Law No.6446 dated 14 March 2013. 

 

List of Shareholders 

 

As of 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2020, the composition of shareholders and their respective 

percentage of ownership can be summarized as follows: 

 

 
 

Aydem Enerji Yatırımları A.Ş. is controlled by Aydem Holding A.Ş.  

 

With the Board of Directors decision dated 4 August 2020 and numbered 2020/29, the issued capital of 

the Company, which was 700,000,000 TL within the registered capital ceiling of 2,000,000,000 TL, was 

increased by 5,000,000 TL to 705,000,000 TL; decided to issue 5,000,000 shares with a nominal value of 

TL 5,000,000 issued as Group B shares and to offer the said shares to the public. As of 29 April 2021, the 

company started to be traded on Borsa Istanbul - Yıldız Market. 

 

Approval of consolidated financial statements: 

 

Consolidated financial statements prepared as of 31 December 2021 were authorized for publication by 

the Board of Directors on 4 March 2022. The General Assembly have the right to amend the consolidated 

financial statements. 
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2      Basis of presentation of consolidated financial statements 

2.1 Basic principles of presentation 

Consolidated financial statements of the Group have been prepared in accordance with International 

Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB). 

 

Consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis, except for power plants 

classified within property, plant and equipment that have been measured at fair value. 

 

The Group and its subsidiaries and associate maintain their books of accounts and prepare their statutory 

financial statements in accordance with the Turkish Commercial Code (“TCC”), tax legislation, the 

Uniform Chart of Accounts issued by the Ministry of Finance. Consolidated financial statements are 

based on the statutory records, which are maintained under historical cost conventions except for the 

revaluated power plants, with the required adjustments and reclassifications reflected for the purpose of 

fair presentation in accordance with IFRS. 

  

2.2 Basis of preparation of consolidated financial statements before 1 January 2020 and transition to 

consolidated financial statements 

 

After the restructuring of the Group in 2019, the main and sole activity of Aydem Yenilenebilir became 

the renewable energy generation. Aydem Yenilenebilir has terminated its operations in the power plant 

construction business in 2019 by selling the assets of the business to third parties and transferred the solar 

panel production business to a subsidiary of its ultimate parent through a spin-off transaction.  In order 

to present the consolidated financial position and the results of operations solely of the renewable energy 

generation comparatively for the year 2019, the Group management decided to prepare the consolidated 

financial statements on a basis. Restructuring of the Group completed in 2019. Preparation assumptions 

and judgements stated below are totally related with the consolidated financial statements prepared before 

1 January 2020. 

 

Accordingly, the former subsidiaries of the Group; Yatağan Termik Enerji Üretim A.Ş. (“Yatağan”), 

Çates Elektrik Üretim A.Ş. (“Çates”), Panobel Elektrik Gereçleri A.Ş. (“Panobel”), Bereket Havacılık 

A.Ş. (“Havacılık”), MNA Enerji Üretim Mühendislik Sanayi ve Ticaret A.Ş. (“MNA”) and Temiz Enerji 

Teknolojileri Araştırma ve Geliştirme A.Ş. (“Temiz”) whose main activities were not the renewable 

energy have been excluded from and have not been consolidated in the accompanying consolidated 

financial statements. These subsidiaries have been transferred to Aydem Holding on 22 December 2017, 

29 December 2017, 31 August 2019, 19 September 2019, 1 February 2019 and, 31 August 2019, 

respectively. 
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2      Basis of presentation of consolidated financial statements (continued) 
 

2.2 Basis of preparation of consolidated financial statements before January 1, 2020 and transition to 

consolidated financial statements (continued) 

 

Additionally, the solar panel production (“Parla”) and construction business (“EPC”) which were 

operating within Aydem Yenilenebilir legal entity have been excluded from the consolidated financial 

statements through the allocation of items relating to the financial position and income statement based 

on the accounting records of the Company retrospectively. All revenues and costs as well as assets and 

liabilities which can be directly associated with these businesses are excluded from the consolidated 

financial statements. Since these were not previously reportable segments, some assumptions are used 

for the allocation and thus any difference between  assets and liabilities transferred  

and the income statement items other than directly identifiable revenues and expenses, is recognised in 

consolidated  statement of changes in equity.  

 

Below are the assumptions and judgements used for the allocation of items regarding the Parla and EPC 

businesses:  

o Cash and cash equivalents could not be allocated among the businesses and all cash 

outstanding is included in the consolidated financial statements. 

o The carrying values of all trade and other receivables related to Parla and EPC have been 

identified and excluded from consolidated financial statements. 

o The carrying values of all inventories related to Parla and EPC have been identified and 

excluded from consolidated financial statements. 

o The carrying values of all property, plant and equipments and intangible assets of Parla 

and EPC have been identified and excluded from consolidated financial statements. 

o The carrying values of all trade and other payables due to third parties have been 

identified and excluded from consolidated financial statements. 

o Assets and financial liabilities arising from financial lease transactions related to Parla 

business have been identified and exluded from consolidated financial statements. 

o Tax balances and charges could not be allocated among the businesses and therefore are 

all included in the consolidated financial statements. 

o All revenues and cost of sales related to Parla and EPC businesses have been identified 

through the cost/profit centers in the accounting system and excluded from consolidated 

financial statements. 

The difference between the identified assets and liabilities of Parla and EPC businesses 

in excess of the identified accumulated profit or loss has been recognized in the “Effect 

of Transactions” under equity which amounts to TL 217,330,952 as of 31 December 

2019. 

 

The assumptions and judgements stated above are totally related with the consolidated financial 

statements prepared before 1 January 2020. Since the restructuring of the Group has been completed as 

of 31 December 2019, the necessity to prepare the financial statements on a basis has been terminated 

starting from the first financial statments presented with the earliest period of 1 January 2020.  

Accordingly, the effect of transactions under equity amounting to TL 217,330,952 has been transffered 

to accumulated losses account as at 1 January 2020.  

 

In that context, the accompanied consolidated financial statements of the Group are prepared on a 

consolidated basis. 
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2      Basis of presentation of consolidated financial statements (continued) 
 

2.3 Functional and presentation currency 
 

The Group has presented its consolidated financial statements in TL, which is the functional currency of 

the Company and its subsidiaries as well as its associate. 

 

Transactions and balances 
 

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates 

prevailing at the dates of the transactions or valuation where items are remeasured. Foreign exchange 

gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from the translation at period-end 

exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in the 

statement of profit or loss. 
 

2.4 Basis of Consolidation 
 

Consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of the company and its subsidiaries as 

of 31 December 2021. Subsidiaries are companies over which the Group has direct or indirect control 

over their operations. Control is provided if the Group meets the following conditions: 

 

• Power over the investee (i.e., existing rights that give it the current ability to direct the relevant activities 

of the investee) 

• Exposure, or rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee 

• The ability to use its power over the investee to affect its returns 
 

Generally, there is a presumption that a majority of voting rights results in control. To support this 

presumption and when the Group has less than a majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee, 

the Group considers all relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether it has power over an 

investee, including:  
 

• The contractual arrangement(s) with the other vote holders of the investee  

• Rights arising from other contractual arrangements  

• The Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights  
 

The Group re-assesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there 

are changes to one or more of the three elements of control. Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when 

the Group obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses control of the subsidiary. 

Assets, liabilities, income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are 

included in the consolidated financial statements from the date the Group gains control until the date the 

Group ceases to control the subsidiary.  
 

Profit or loss and each component of OCI are attributed to the equity holders of the parent of the Group 

and to the non-controlling interests, even if this results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit 

balance. When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their 

accounting policies in line with the Group’s accounting policies. All intra-group assets and liabilities, 

equity, income, expenses and cash flows relating to transactions between members of the Group are 

eliminated in full on consolidation.  

 

A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is accounted for as an equity 

transaction. If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises the related assets (including 

goodwill), liabilities, non-controlling interest and other components of equity, while any resultant gain 

or loss is recognised in profit or loss. Any investment retained is recognised at fair value. 
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2      Basis of presentation of consolidated financial statements (continued) 
 

2.4 Basis of Consolidation (contiuned) 

 

(i) Business combinations 
 

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method. The cost of an acquisition is 

measured as the aggregate of the consideration transferred, which is measured at acquisition date fair 

value, and the amount of any non-controlling interests in the acquiree. For each business combination, 

the Group elects whether to measure the non-controlling interests in the acquiree at fair value or at the 

proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. Acquisition-related costs are expensed as 

incurred and included in administrative expenses. 

 

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer will be recognised at fair value at the 

acquisition date. Contingent consideration classified as equity is not remeasured and its subsequent 

settlement is accounted for within equity. Contingent consideration classified as an asset or liability that 

is a financial instrument and within the scope of IFRS 9 Financial Instruments, is measured at fair value 

with the changes in fair value recognised in the statement of profit or loss in accordance with IFRS 9. 

Other contingent consideration that is not within the scope of IFRS 9 is measured at fair value at each 

reporting. 

 

Goodwill is initially measured at cost (being the excess of the aggregate of the consideration transferred 

and the amount recognised for non-controlling interests and any previous interest held over the net 

identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed). If the fair value of the net assets acquired is in excess 

of the aggregate consideration transferred, the Group re-assesses whether it has correctly identified all of 

the assets acquired and all of the liabilities assumed and reviews the procedures used to measure the 

amounts to be recognised at the acquisition date. If the reassessment still results in an excess of the fair 

value of net assets acquired over the aggregate consideration transferred, then the gain is recognised in 

profit or loss.   

 

ii)  Subsidiaries: 
 

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The Group controls an entity when it is exposed to, or 

has rights to, variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those 

returns through its power over the entity. 
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2 Basis of presentation of consolidated financial statements (continued) 

2.4 Basis of consolidation (continued) 

iii) Associates: 

 

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant influence. Significant influence is the 

power to participate in the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee, but is not control or 

joint control over those policies.Associates are accounted for equity method in the consolidated financial 

statements. Under equity method, investment in an associate is initially recognised at cost. After initial 

recognition, Group’s share of the profit or loss of the investee, is recorded to the financial statements by 

increasing or decreasing the net book value. Group’s share of the profit or loss and other comprehensive 

income of equity-accounted investees, after adjustments to align the accounting policies with those of the 

Group, from the date that significant influence commences until the date that significant influence ceases. 

 

In addition, when there has been a change recognised directly in the equity of the associate, the Group 

recognises its share of any changes, when applicable, in the statement of changes in equity. Goodwill 

relating to the associate or joint venture is included in the carrying amount of the investment and is not 

tested for impairment separately. Unrealised gains and losses resulting from transactions between the 

Group and the associate are eliminated to the extent of the interest in the associate or joint venture. 

 

When the Group’s share of losses exceeds its interest in an equity-accounted investee, the carrying 

amount of the investment, including any long-term interests that form part thereof, is reduced to zero, 

and the recognition of further losses is discontinued except to the extent that the Group has an obligation 

or has made payments on behalf of the investee. 

 

The aggregate of the Group’s share of profit or loss of an associate is shown on the face of the statement 

of profit or loss within operating profit when the associate’s main course of business is renewable enegy 

generation and represents profit or loss after tax.  

 

The financial statements of the associate are prepared for the same reporting period as the Group.  

 

After application of the equity method, the Group determines whether it is necessary to recognise an 

impairment loss on its investment in its associate. At each reporting date, the Group determines whether 

there is objective evidence that the investment in the associate is impaired. If there is such evidence, the 

Group calculates the amount of impairment as the difference between the recoverable amount of the 

associate and its carrying value, and then recognises the loss within ‘Share of profit of an associate’ in 

the statement of profit or loss. 

 

iv) Non-controlling interests 

For each business combination, the Group elects to measure any non-controlling interests in the acquiree 

either:  

● at fair value; or  

● at their proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets, which are generally at fair value.  
 

Profit or loss and each component of OCI are attributed to the equity holders of the parent of the Group 

and to the non-controlling interests, even if this results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit 

balance. 
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2 Basis of presentation of consolidated financial statements (continued) 

2.4 Basis of consolidation (continued) 

 

v)  Partial share purchase and sale transactions with non-controlling interests 

 

Changes in the Group’s interest in a subsidiary that do not result in a loss of control are accounted for as 

transactions with owners in their capacity as owners. Accordingly, in the case of additional share 

purchases from and sales to non-controlling interests, the difference between the acquisition cost and the 

carrying amount of the net assets of the subsidiary in proportion to the acquired interest is recognized in 

equity. No adjustments are made to goodwill and no gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss. 

 

vi)  Acquisition of companies under common control 

 

For the accounting of business combinations under common control, assets and liabilities subject to 

business combination are included in the consolidated financial statements with carrying values of 

historical IFRS financial statements which were prepared for the purpose of consolidation of the ultimate 

parents’ consolidated financial statements. The financial statements of the acquired entities have been 

consolidated from the beginning of the financial year in which the business combination occurs. Prior 

period financial statements have been restated in the same manner for comparability purposes. As a result 

of these transactions, no goodwill or negative goodwill has been calculated. Any difference between the 

consideration paid and the share capital of the acquired entity are accounted under equity as “Share 

Premium / Discount”. 

 

vii)  Eliminations 

 

During the preparation of the consolidated financial statements, unrealized gains and losses arising from 

intra-group transactions transactions between entities included in the consolidated financial statements, 

intra-group balances and intra-group transactions are eliminated. Gains and losses arising from the 

transactions between the associate and the parent company and the consolidated subsidiaries of the parent 

company and jointly controlled entities are offset against the parent company's interest in the associate. 

Unrealized losses are eliminated in the same manner as unrealized gains, unless there is evidence of 

impairment. 

 

viii)  Loss of control 

 

Upon the loss of control, the Group derecognizes the assets and liabilities of the subsidiary, any non-

controlling interests and the other components of equity related to the subsidiary. Any surplus or deficit 

arising on the loss of control is recognised in profit or loss. If the Group retains any interest in the previous 

subsidiary, then such interest is measured at fair value at the date that control is lost. Subsequently it is 

accounted for as an equity-accounted investee or as an available-for-sale financial asset depending on the 

level of influence retained. 
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2 Basis of presentation of consolidated financial statements (continued) 

2.5 Going Concern 

The Group prepares its consolidated financial statements on the assumption that the business will 

continue its operations in the foreseeable future. As of 31 December 2021, the Group has accumulated 

losses amounting to TL 1,102,866,722 and net loss for the year of TL 120,291,640. On the other hand, 

the Group has operating profit amounting to TL 417,420,881, the Group has earned TL 1,462,580,898 

cash and TL 872,117,420 of profit before interest, tax and depreciation from operating activities.  

The Group generates electricity sales income and collects it in less than a month. On the other hand, all 

payables to be paid within one year are included in short term liabilities. The fact that the Group's 

receivables turnover rate is high provides an advantage in terms of paying its short-term liabilities on 

time. As a result of the USD indexed sales realized within the scope of the Group's Feed-in Tariff ("FIT”), 

the total revenue amount increased significantly. 

The Group paid all of its domestic bank loans with the bond issuance on 2 August 2021, and accelerated 

its investments in line with its targets of doubling its installed power with the remaining fund. As a result 

of the completion of the investments, an increase in production is expected in the coming years, and it is 

expected that the income will increase in parallel with the investments. In addition, it is expected that the 

principal payments for the bond is going to start in 2025, which will enable the Group to realize its 

investment targets more quickly, and to make the principal payments of the bond without any problems 

with the funds obtained from the operations. 

Group management made an assessment of the sustainability of operations and determined that it has 

sufficient resources to continue its operations in the near future, taking into account the Group's capacity 

to generate revenue, profit and liquidity. Group management believes that there is no uncertainty about 

the sustainability of its operations. 

2.6 The new standards, amendments and interpretations 

The accounting policies adopted in preparation of the consolidated financial statements as at 31 

December 2021 are consistent with those of the previous financial year, except for the adoption of new 

and amended IFRS and IFRIC interpretations effective as of 1 January 2021. The effects of these 

standards and interpretations on he Group’s financial position and performance have been disclosed in 

the related paragraphs. 

 

i) The new standards, amendments and interpretations which are effective as at 1 

January 2021 are as follows: 

 

- Interest Rate Benchmark Reform – Phase 2 – Amendments to IFRS 9, IAS 39, IFRS 7, IFRS 4 

and IFRS 16, 

- Practical expedient for changes in the basis for determining the contractual cash flows as a result 

of IBOR reform,   

- Relief from discontinuing hedging relationships,  

- Separately identifiable risk components, 

- Amendments to IFRS 16 - Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions and Covid-19-Related Rent 

Concessions beyond 30 June 2021 

 

The Group is in the process of assessing the impact of the amendments on financial position or 

performance of the Group. 
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2 Basis of presentation of consolidated financial statements (continued) 

2.6 The new standards, amendments and interpretations (continued) 

ii)  Standards issued but not yet effective and not early adopted 
 

Standards, interpretations and amendments to existing standards that are issued but not yet effective up 

to the date of issuance of the consolidated financial statements are as follows. The Group will make the 

necessary changes if not indicated otherwise, which will be affecting the consolidated financial 

statements and disclosures, when the new standards and interpretations become effective. 

- Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28: Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and 

its Associate or Joint Venture 

- Amendments to IFRS 3 – Reference to the Conceptual Framework  
- Amendments to IAS 16 – Proceeds before intended use 
- Amendments to IAS 37 – Onerous contracts – Costs of Fulfilling a Contract  
- IFRS 17 - The new Standard for insurance contracts 
- Amendments to IAS 1- Classification of Liabilities as Current and Non-Current Liabilities 
- Amendments to IAS 8 - Definition of Accounting Estimates   

- Amendments to IAS 1 and IFRS Practice Statement 2 - Disclosure of Accounting Policies 
- Amendments to IAS 12 – Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities arising from a Single 

Transaction 
- Annual Improvements – 2018–2020 Cycle 

 

The Group is in the process of assessing the impact of the amendments on financial position or 

performance of the Group. 
 

2.7 Summary of significant accounting policies 
 

Related Parties 
 

A related party is a person or entity that is related to the entity that is preparing its financial statements. 

a) A person or a close member of that person's family is related to a reporting entity if that person: 

i.    has control or joint control over the reporting entity,  
ii.   has significant influence over the reporting entity,  

iii.  is a member of the key management personnel of the reporting entity or of a parent of the reporting 

entity. 
 
(b) An entity is related to a reporting entity if any of the following conditions applies: 
 

i. The entity and the reporting entity are members of the same group (which means that each parent, 
subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to the others).  

ii. One entity is an associate or joint venture of the other entity (or an associate or joint venture of a 
member of a group of which the other entity is a member).  

iii. Both entities are joint ventures of the same third party.  
iv. One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other entity is an associate of the third entity.  
v. The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit of employees of either the reporting 

entity or an entity related to the reporting entity. If the reporting entity is itself such a plan, the 
sponsoring employers are also related to the reporting entity.  

vi. The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person identified in (a).  
vii. A person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence over the entity or is a member of the key 

management personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity). 
 
A related party transaction is a transfer of resources, services or obligations between a reporting entity 

and a related party, regardless of whether a price is charged. 
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2 Basis of presentation of consolidated financial statements (continued) 

2.7 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 

 

Property, plant and equipment 

 

Accounting and measurement 

 

The Group, has adopted the revaluation method in accordance with IAS 16 for its entire power plants. 

Power plants are measured at fair value less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses recognised 

after the date of revaluation. Other tangible assets are stated at cost, net of accumulated depreciation and 

accumulated impairment losses, if any. Construction in progress is also stated at cost, net of accumulated 

impairment losses, if any. 

 

The frequency of revaluations depends on the changes in the fair values of property, plant and equipment 

subject to revaluation. The Group revalued the property, plant and equipments consisting of the power 

plant as of 31 December 2021 and performed a detailed impairment analysis as of 31 December 2021. 

The Renewable Energy Group consist of power plants below: 

 

- Çırakdamı HPP, Dereli HPP, Kızıldere GPP, Arnaz WPP, Arova WPP, Söke WPP, Bereket I-II 

HPP, Dalaman I-V HPP, Gökyar HPP, Feslek HPP, Koyulhisar HPP, LFG Bio Power Plant 

(“BPP”), Mentaş HPP, Toros HPP, Göktaş I-II HPP, Aksu HPP and Akıncı HPP. 

 

A revaluation surplus is recorded in OCI and credited to the asset revaluation surplus in equity. However,   

to the extent that it reverses a revaluation deficit of the same asset previously recognised in profit or loss,   

the increase is recognised in profit and loss. A revaluation deficit is recognised in the statement of profit 

or  loss, except to the extent that it offsets an existing surplus on the same asset recognised in the asset  

revaluation surplus.  

 

An annual transfer from the asset revaluation surplus to retained earnings is made for the difference 

between depreciation based on the revalued carrying amount of the asset and depreciation based on the 

asset’s original cost. Additionally, accumulated depreciation as at the revaluation date is eliminated 

against the gross carrying amount of the asset and the net amount is restated to the revalued amount of 

the asset. Upon disposal, any revaluation surplus relating to the particular asset being sold is transferred 

to retained earnings.  

 

Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method over property, plant and equipment. Land is  not 

depreciated on the basis that it has an indefinite life. Purchase costs are accounted by separating the land 

and building components in the purchases of buildings, including land. 

 

The estimated useful lives of the significant property, plant and equipments as of 31 December 2021 are 

as follows: 
  Years 

Power plants     20-49 
 

An item of property, plant and equipment and any significant part initially recognised is derecognised 

upon disposal (i.e., at the date the recipient obtains control) or when no future economic benefits are 

expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the asset (calculated as the 

difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset) is included in the 

statement of profit or loss when the asset is derecognised.  
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2 Basis of presentation of consolidated financial statements (continued) 

2.7 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 

 

The residual values, useful lives and methods of depreciation of property, plant and equipment are 

reviewed at each financial year end and adjusted prospectively, if appropriate. Repair and maintenance 

costs are recognised in profit or loss as incurred. 
 

A class of power plant is a grouping of assets of a similar nature and used in an entity’s operations and 

contains land, buildings, machinery and equipments, furniture and fixtures. 
 

Expenses for the repair of property, plant and equipment are normally charged as expense. They are, 

however, capitalized if they result in an enlargement or substantial improvement of the respective assets. 
 

Intangible assets 
 

Accounting and measurement 
 

Intangible assets are carried at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses. Intangible 

assets are carried at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses. Intangible assets comprise 

rights to operate licenses and computer softwares. 
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2 Basis of presentation of consolidated financial statements (continued) 

2.7 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 

Right to Operate Licences 

 

The HPP operating licences which has been obtained through Transfer of Operating Rights Agreement 

(“Agreement”) with the Privatization Administration and the Electricity Generation Corporation 

(“EÜAŞ”) are accounted as intangible assets. 

 

Computer Softwares 

 

Computer softwares are recognized at acquisition cost and amortized on a straight line basis over their 

estimated useful lives of 3-15 years. Where an indication of impairment exists, the carrying amount of 

any intangible assets is assessed and written down immediately to its recoverable amount.  
 
Subsequent costs 

 
 

Subsequent costs are capitalized only if they have an impact that increases the future economic benefits 

of the intangible assets to which they relate. All other expenditures are recognized in profit or loss when 

incurred. 

 

Amortization 

 

Intangible assets are recognized in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives 

starting from the date they are ready for use. Right to operate licences are depreciated over the licence 

which is 12-49 years and the depreciation starts at the effective date of the agreement. 

 

Amortization methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at each reporting date and, where 

appropriate, adjusted. 

 
The estimated useful lives in the current periods are as follows:                                                                                                          

                                                                                                       Years 
 

Right to Operate Licences                 12-49 

Computer Softwares          3-15 

 

Revenue recognition 
 

The operations of the Group entities are regulated under Electricity Market Law No. 6446, the Regulation 

on Electricity Market License of EMRA, the Electricity Market Balancing and Settlement Regulation 

(“BSR”) and other related legislative provisions. 

 

Electricity sales is recognised as revenue at the time of electricity delivery, on an accrual basis. In the 

case of revenue from feed-in-tariff (“FIT”), sale of electricity is recorded based upon output delivered at 

rates specified under FIT. In the case of revenue from other than FIT, sale of electricity is again recorded 

based upon output delivered but at market rates. 
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2 Basis of presentation of consolidated financial statements (continued) 

2.7 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 

The Group identified electricity sale as a performance obligation. This performance obligations identified 

were evaluated and determined to be satisfied over time and qualified for the invoicing practical 

expedient since the invoiced amounts reasonably represent the value to customers of performance 

obligations fulfilled to date. The transaction price is determined based on the price per actual mega-watt 

output. Billings subject to FIT, are invoiced on a monthly basis at the end of the month, where all 

collection is due on the 25th day of the following month. Other invoices are issued on a monthly basis 

and payment is typically made upfront as an advance.  
 

General recognition principles 

Pursuant to IFRS 15 at “Revenue from Contracts with Customers” replacing IAS 18, the Group's 

performance obligations consist of wholesale electricity, ancillary services related to electricity sales. 

The electricity sold is transmitted to the customer via transmission lines and the customer simultaneously 

consumes the benefit of the Group's performance. Revenue from electricity sales and ancillary services 

related to electricity sales is recognized at the time of delivery. IFRS 15 has no material impact on the 

financial position or performance of the Group due to the Group's operations. 

 

The Group recognizes revenue when it has fulfilled its obligation of performance by transmission of 

electricity to its customer. 
 

The Group includes revenue in its consolidated financial statements in accordance with the following 5 

basic principles:  

a)  Determination of customer contracts  

b)  Determination of performance obligations in contracts  

c)  Determination of transaction price in contracts  

d)  Distribution of transaction price to performance obligations in contracts  

e)  Revenue recognition when each performance obligation is fulfilled 
 

The Group recognizes a contract with the customer as revenue if the following conditions are met: 

a)  The parties to the agreement have ratified the agreement (in accordance with written, oral or other 

commercial practices) and undertake to carry out their own responsibilities, 

b)  The rights of each party related to the goods or services to be transferred can be defined, 

c)  The terms of payment for the goods or services to be transferred can be defined, 

d)  The nature of the contract is commercial in nature, 

e) The Group is likely to charge a consideration for goods or services to be transferred to the 

customer. When assessing whether a charge is likely to be recoverable, the Group considers only the 

customer's ability to pay that amount at maturity and its intention to do so. 
 

At the beginning of the contract, the Group evaluates the services undertaken in the contract with the 

customer and defines each commitment to transfer to the customer as a separate performance obligation. 

The Group also determines at the beginning of the contract whether it has fulfilled each performance 

obligation over time or at a certain point in time. 

In order to determine the transaction price, the Group takes into account the contractual provisions and 

commercial practices. The transaction price is the amount that the Group expects to be entitled to in 

return for the transfer of the goods or services it has committed to the customer, except for the amounts 

collected on behalf of third parties (for example, certain sales taxes).
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2 Basis of presentation of consolidated financial statements (continued) 

2.7 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 

Leases 

 

The Group has applied IFRS 16 as of 1 January 2019. Accounting policies applied prior to 1 January 2019 

are explained in detail in the notes to the consolidated financial statements as of 31 December 2018. 

 

a) Group – as a lessee 

 

At inception of a contract, the Group assesses whether a contract is, or contains a lease. A contract is, or 

contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time 

in exchange for consideration. 

 

Group recognises a right-of-use asset and a lease liability at the commencement date of the lease 

following the above mentoned assessments. 

 

i. Right-of-use assets 

 

The Group recognises right-of-use assets at the commencement date of the lease (i.e., the date the 

underlying asset is available for use). Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated 

depreciation and impairment losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities. 

The cost of right-of-use assets includes the following: 

 

a)  the amount of the initial measurement of the lease liability,  

b)  any lease payments made at or before the commencement date, less any lease incentives received,  

c)  any initial direct costs incurred by the Group, and 

d)  an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group in dismantling and removing the underlying asset, 

restoring the site on which it is located or restoring the underlying asset to the condition required by 

the terms and conditions of the lease (unless those costs are incurred to produce inventories) 

 

Unless the Group is reasonably certain to obtain ownership of the leased asset at the end of the lease 

term, the recognised right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter of its 

estimated useful life and the lease term. Useful lives of right-of-use assets are as follows: 

 

Buildings  1-2 years 

Motor vehicles  1-4 years 

 

Right-of-use assets are subject to impairment. 

 

ii. Lease liabilities 

 

At the commencement date of the lease, the Group recognises lease liabilities measured at the present 

value of lease payments to be made over the lease term.  In calculating the present value of lease 

payments, the Group uses its incremental borrowing rate at the lease commencement date because the 

interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily determinable.
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2 Basis of presentation of consolidated financial statements (continued) 

2.7 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 

The lease payments included in the measurement of the lease liability comprise the following payments 

for the right to use the underlying asset during the lease term that are not paid at the commencement date: 

 

a) Fixed payments, less any lease incentives receivable, 

b) ariable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate, initially measured using the index or rate as 

at the commencement date  

c) amounts expected to be paid under residual value guarantees 

d) exercise price of a purchase option reasonably certain to be exercised by the Group 

e) payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects the lessee exercising an option 

to terminate the lease. 

 

After the commencement date, Group measures the lease liability by:  

 

a) increasing the carrying amount to reflect interest on the lease liability,  

b) reducing the carrying amount to reflect the lease payments made, and  

c) remeasuring the carrying amount to reflect any reassessment or lease modifications. The Group 

recognises the amount of the remeasurement of the lease liability as an adjustment to the right-of-use 

asset. 

 

Significant judgement in determining the lease term of contracts with renewal options 

 

Group assesses the contractual options to extend or to terminate the lease when determining the lease 

liability. Most of the options to extend and terminate are exercisable both by the Group and the respective 

lessor. Group determines the lease term of a lease considering the periods covered by options to extend 

and terminate the lease if the options are exercisable by the Group and the Group is reasonably certain to 

exercise those options. If a significant change in circumstances takes place, related lease term assessment 

is revisited by the Group. 

 

The Group applies a single discount rate to a portfolio of leases which have similar characteristics (asset 

classes which have similar remaining rent periods in a similar economic environment). 

 

Impairment of non-financial assets 

 

The Group evaluates whether there is any indication for  impairment on non-financial assets, other than 

inventories, deferred tax assets at each reporting date. If any such indication exists, then the asset’s 

recoverable amount is estimated. 

 

The recoverable amount of an asset or cash generating unit is the greater of its value in use and its fair 

value less selling costs. Value in use is estimated by discounting future cash flows at the pre-tax discount 

rate in line with the current market assessments reflecting the time value of money and the risks specific 

to that asset. 

 

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or cash-generating unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying 

amount, the carrying amount of the asset (cash-generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable amount. 
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2 Basis of presentation of consolidated financial statements (continued) 

2.7 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 

 
An impairment loss on a non revalued asset is recognised in profit or loss. However, an impairment loss 

on a revalued asset is recognised in other comprehensive income to the extent that the impairment loss 

does not exceed the amount in the revaluation surplus for that same asset. Such an impairment loss on a 

revalued asset reduces the revaluation surplus for that asset. 

 

An impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not reversed.In respect of other assets, impairment losses 

recognized in prior periods are assessed at each reporting date for any indications that the loss has 

decreased or no longer exists. An impairment loss is reversed if there has been a change in the estimates 

used to determine the recoverable amount. An impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the 

asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of 

depreciation or amortization, if no impairment loss had been recognized. 

 

A reversal of an impairment loss for an asset other than goodwill is recognised immediately in profit or 

loss, except for the power plants which are carried at revalued amount. A reversal of an impairment loss 

on a revalued asset is recognised in other comprehensive income and increases the revaluation surplus for 

that asset. However, to the extent that an impairment loss on the same revalued asset was previously 

recognised in profit or loss, a reversal of that impairment loss is also recognised in profit or loss. 

 

Inventories 

 

Inventories are valued at the lower of cost or net realizable value less costs to sell. Cost of inventories is 

comprised of the purchase cost and the cost of bringing inventories into their present location and 

condition. Inventories comprise of spare parts required for the maintenance of the machines and 

equipments, and expensed as they are used. The cost of inventories is determined using the moving 

weighted average method. 

 

Financial Instruments 

Financial assets – Classification and measurement: 

 
Group classifies its financial assets as financial assets measured at amortized cost. The classification of 
financial assets on recognition depends on the financial asset’s contractual cash flow characteristics and the 
Group’s business model for managing them. Group’s financial assets measured at amortised cost are held 
within a business model with the objective to hold financial assets in order to collect contractual cash flows 
 

(a) Financial assets accounted for at amortized cost 

 
Non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not carried out in an active 
market and which are non-derivative financial instruments are classified as assets that are accounted for at 
amortized cost, where management adopts the business model of collecting contractual cash flows and the 
terms of the contract include interest payments solely on principal and principal at certain dates. They are 
classified as current assets if their maturities are less than 12 months after the balance sheet date and  non 
current assets if they are longer than 12 months. Financial assets recognized at amortized cost include “trade 
receivables”, “other receivables” and “cash and cash equivalents” in the statement of financial position. 
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2 Basis of presentation of consolidated financial statements (continued) 

2.7 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 

 
i. Trade and other receivables 

 

Trade receivables that are created by the Group by way of providing goods or services directly to a debtor 

are carried at amortized cost. Short-term receivables with no stated interest rate are measured at original 

invoice amount unless the effect of imputing interest is significant. 

 

ii. Cash and cash equivalents 
 

Cash and cash equivalents include cash held in cash, deposits held in banks and other liquid investments 

with maturities of 3 months or less. Cash and cash equivalents used in the reporting of cash flows comprise 

cash and cash equivalents with a maturity of less than 3 months, excluding accrued interest income and 

blocked deposits. The Group calculates impairment by using the expected credit loss model in cases where 

cash and cash equivalents are not impaired for a certain reason. The expected credit loss calculation takes 

into account the past experiences of credit losses as well as the Group's forecasts for the future. 

 

Impairment  

 

The Group recognises an allowance for expected credit losses (ECLs) for all debt instruments not held at 

fair value through profit or loss.  

 

ECLs are recognised in two stages: 

 

 12-month ECL: For credit exposures for which there has not been a significant increase in credit risk 

since initial recognition, ECLs are provided for credit losses that result from default events that are 

possible within the next 12-months, 

 

 Lifetime ECL: For those credit exposures for which there has been a significant increase in credit 

risk since initial recognition, a loss allowance is required for credit losses expected over the 

remaining life of the exposure. 
 

For trade receivables and other receivables, the Group applies a simplified approach in calculating ECLs. 

Therefore, the Group does not track changes in credit risk, but instead recognises a loss allowance based on 

lifetime ECLs at each reporting date. The expected credit losses were calculated based on a provision matrix 

that is based on the Group’s historical credit loss experience, considering for forward-looking factors. 

 
The Group may determine that the credit risk of a financial asset has not increased significantly if the asset 
has low credit risk at the reporting date. However lifetime ECL measurement (simplified approach) is 
always applied for trade receivables and contract assets without a significant financing. 
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2 Basis of presentation of consolidated financial statements (continued) 

2.7 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 

 
Financial liabilities  

 
Non-derivative financial liabilities of the Group comprised of “borrowings”, “trade payables" and “other 
payables” in the statement of financial position 
 

i.    Borrowings 
 

Borrowings are initially recognized at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are 
subsequently measured at amortized cost. Any difference between the proceeds (net of transaction costs) 
and the redemption amount is recognized in profit or loss over the period of the borrowings using the 
effective interest method. Fees paid on the establishment of loan facilities are recognized as transaction 
costs of the loan to the extent that it is probable that some or all of the facility will be drawn down. In this 
case, the fee is deferred until the draw down occurs. To the extent there is no evidence that it is probable 
that some or all of the facility will be drawn down, the fee is capitalized as a prepayment for liquidity 
services and amortized over the period of the facility to which it relates.  
 

Borrowings are derecognised from the balance sheet when the obligation specified in the contract is 
discharged, cancelled or expired.  

 
-  Borrowing costs 

 
If financing costs arising from the loans are associated with acquisition or construction of qualifying 
assets, they are included in cost value of qualifying assets. Qualifying assets refer to assets which require 
a long time to be available for use or sales as intended. Other borrowing costs are accounted in statement 
of profit or loss in the period they occur. 

 

ii. Trade and other payables  

 

Trade and other payables are recognized initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortized 

cost using the effective interest method. 

 
Recognition and de-recognition of financial instruments 
 

All purchases and sales of financial assets are recognized on the trade date i.e. the date that the Group 
commits to purchase or to sell the asset. These purchases or sales are the purchases or sales generally 
require delivery of assets within the time frame generally established by regulation or convention in the 
market place. 
 

A financial asset (or, where applicable a part of a financial asset or part of a group of similar financial 

assets) is derecognized where:
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2 Basis of presentation of consolidated financial statements (continued) 

2.7 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 

 
(a) the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired 
 
(b) the Group retains the right to receive cash flows from the asset, but has assumed an obligation to pay 
them in full without material delay to a third party under a "pass-through" arrangement; or 
 
(c) the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset and either (a) has transferred 
substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, or (b) has neither transferred nor retained substantially 
all the risks and rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of the assets.  
 
Where the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from an asset and has neither transferred 
nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset nor transferred control of the asset, the 
asset is recognized to the extent of the Group’s continuing involvement in the consolidated financial 
statements. 
 
A financial liability is derecognized when the obligation under the liability is discharged or cancelled or 

expires. 

Share Capital 

Ordinary shares 

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Additional costs directly attributable to the issuance of ordinary 

shares are recognized as a decrease in equity after deducting the tax effect. Income tax on transaction 

costs arising from equity transactions is recognized in accordance with IAS 12. 

 

Provisions, contingent liabilities and contingent assets 

 

Provisions are determined by discounting the estimated future cash flows to their present value using the 

pre-tax discount rate that reflects the time value of money and the risks specific to the liability. The 

discount amount is recognized as other expense from the main activities. 

 

Contingent liabilities 

 

Contingent liabilities are continuously reviewed in order to determine whether the possibility of an 

outflow of any resources embodying economic benefits is likely. Except for the cases where possibility 

of disposal of resources embodying economical benefit is remote, it is clarified on notes of financial 

statements. 

 

A contingent liability is disclosed, unless the possibility of an outflow of resources embodying economic 

benefits is remote. If the possibility of transfer of assets is certain, contingent liability is recognized in 

the financial statements. 

 

Income taxes 

 

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Current tax and deferred tax is recognised in profit or 

loss except to the extent that it relates to a business combination, or items recognised directly in equity 

or in other comprehensive income.
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2 Basis of presentation of consolidated financial statements (continued) 

2.7 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 

 

Current tax 

 

Current tax is the expected tax payable or receivable on the taxable income or loss for the year, using tax 

rates enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date, and any adjustment to tax liabilities in respect 

of previous years. 

 

Deferred tax 

 

Deferred tax is recognized in respect of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets 

and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes. Deferred tax 

is not recognized for: 

 

- temporary differences on the initial recognition of assets or liabilities in a transaction that is not 

a business combination and that affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss; 

 

- temporary differences related to investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint arrangements is 

recognized to the extent that the Group is able to control the timing of the reversal of the 

temporarydifferences and it is probable that they will not reverse in the foreseeable future; and, 

 

- taxable temporary differences arising on the initial recognition of goodwill. 
 

Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates that are expected to be applied to temporary differences when 

they reverse, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date. Unrecognized deferred 

tax assets are reassessed at each reporting date and recognized to the extent that it has become probable 

that future taxable profits will be available against which they can be used. 

 

The measurement of deferred tax reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the manner in 

which the Group expects, at the reporting date, to recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and 

liabilities. A deferred tax asset is recognised for unused tax losses, tax credits and deductible temporary 

differences to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against which they 

can be utilised. Deferred tax assets are reviewed at each reporting date and are reduced to the extent that 

it is no longer probable that the related tax benefit will be realised. 

 

Tax risk 
 

In determining the amount of current and deferred tax, the Group takes into account the impact of 

uncertain tax positions and whether additional taxes and interest may be due. This assessment relies on 

estimates and assumptions and may involve a series of judgements about future events. New information 

may become available that causes the Group to change its judgement regarding the adequacy of existing 

tax liabilities; such changes to tax liabilities will impact tax expense in the period that such a 

determination is made.
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2 Basis of presentation of consolidated financial statements (continued) 

2.7 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 

Events after reporting date 

 

Refers to events favourable or unfavourable, occurring  between the reporting date and the authorization 

date for the publication of the financial statements. Events after the reporting date are divided into two: 

 

- those that provide evidence of conditions that existed at the end of the reporting period (adjusting 

events after the reporting period); 

- those that are indicative of conditions that arose after the reporting period (non- adjusting events 

after the reporting period) 

In the event that that provide evidence of conditions that existed at the end of the reporting period, the 

Group adjusts its consolidated financial statements in accordance with the new situation. If these events 

that are indicative of conditions that arose after the reporting period; do not require the restatement of the 

consolidated financial statements, the Group discloses the related events in its notes. 

 

             Long-term employee benefits 

Post retirement benefits 

Under Turkish Labour Law Article 25/II, the Group is required  to make lump-sum payments to 

employees whose employment is ended due to retirement or for reasons other than resignation or 

misconduct. The liability is not funded and accordingly there are no plan assets for the defined benefits 

as there is no funding requirement. The payable amount consists of one month's salary for each year of 

service. This entitlement is limited to TL 8,284.51 in respect of each year of service as of 31 December 

2021 (31 December 2020 – TL 7,117.17).  

 

For post retirement benefits, the cost of providing benefits is determined using the projected unit credit 

method, with actuarial valuations being carried out at the end of each reporting period. The retirement 

benefit obligation recognised in the statement of financial position represents the present value of the 

defined benefit obligation.  The Group recognizes actuarial gains and losses in the statement of other 

comprehensive income as required by the revised IAS 19. 

 

The main actuarial assumptions used as of 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2020 are as follows: 

 
 31 December  

2021 

31 December 

2020 

Expected interest in the coming years % 13.5 13.5 

Expected inflation in the coming years % 9.5 9.5 

Discount rate % 3.65 3.65 
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2 Basis of presentation of consolidated financial statements (continued) 

2.7 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 

 

In the normal workflow, in activities abroad, it contributes to the relevant governmental body for the 

retirement plan of the employees in the country where they work. Mandatory contributions to the state 

pension plan are recognized as an expense when incurred. 

 

Provision for unused vacation rights 

 

The Group is required to pay to the employee, whose employment is terminated due to any reasons, or 

to its inheritors, the wage of the deserved and unused vacation rights over the prevailing wage at the date 

the contract is terminated. Accordingly, the Group recognizes a provision for unused vacation days as a 

short term employee benefits. Provision for unused vacation days is measured on an undiscounted basis 

and are expensed as the related service is provided 

 

Income and expense from investing activities 
 

Income from investing activities consists of income from sale of property, plant and equipment and other 

income arises from investing activities as defined under IAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows.  

 

Expenses from investing activities consist of impairment on property, plant and equipment and other 

expenses arises from investing activities as defined under IAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows. 

 

Reporting of cash flows statement 

 

In the statement of cash flows, cash flows are classified according to operating, investment and financing 

activities. 

 

Cash flows from operating activities represent cash flows generated from the Group's main operations. 

Cash flows related to investing activities represent the cash flows that are used in or provided from the 

investing activities of the Group (asset investments and financial investments). 

 

             Cash flows related to financing activities represent the resources used by the Group in financing activities 

and the repayment of these resources. 

 

             Capital and dividends 

 

             Dividend receivables are recognized as income in the period in which they are declared. Dividend 

payables are recognized as an element of profit distribution in the financial statements in the period in 

which the profit distribution decision is taken in the General Assembly.
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2 Basis of presentation of consolidated financial statements (continued) 

2.8 Significant accounting judgments, estimates and assumptions 

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires management to 

make judgments, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of accounting policies and the 

amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. Actual results may differ from these estimates. 

Uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates could result in outcomes that require a material 

adjustment to the carrying amount of assets or liabilities affected in future periods. 

Judgements:  

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies, management has made the following 

judgements, which have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the consolidated 

financial statements: 

- Note 8 – Property, plant and equipments 

- Note 10 – Provisions 

- Note 21 – Taxation on income 

Significant judgements made during of the renewable business is explained in Note 2.2. 

Estimates and assumptions   

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the 

reporting date, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of 

assets and liabilities within the next financial year, are described below. The Group based its assumptions 

and estimates on parameters available when the consolidated financial statements were prepared. The 

assumptions underlying estimates and estimates are constantly monitored. Existing circumstances and 

assumptions about future developments, however, may change due to market changes or circumstances 

arising that are beyond the control of the Group. Such changes are reflected in the assumptions when 

they occur. 

A. Explanations on the determination of the fair value of property, plant and equipment  

The Group's power plants ((Çırakdamı HPP, Dereli HPP, Kızıldere GPP, Uşak WPP, Arova WPP, Söke 

WPP, Bereket I-II HPP, Dalaman I-V HPP, Gökyar HPP, Feslek HPP, Koyulhisar HPP, LFG Bio Power 

Plant (“BPP”), Mentaş HPP, Toros HPP, Göktaş I-II HPP, Aksu HPP and Akıncı HPP) under property, 

plant and equipment are accounted for at fair value in accordance with revaluation model. The Group has 

chosen the revaluation method as an accounting policy among measurment approaches allowed under 

IAS 16 for power plants. 

As of 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2010, the Group obtained valuation report from an 

independent valuation company and revalued its power plants to its fair values. As of 31 December 2021 

and 31 December 2020, the power plants are carried at the fair values at the measurement dates less the 

accumulated depreciation in the consolidated financial statements. 

The related revaluation studies are carried out by using “income approach - discounted cash flow 

analysis”. In accordance with discounted cash flows method, the estimation of long-term electricity sale 

prices (or market clearing price “MCP”) is one of the the most important estimates, so an independent 

consultant was employed to support the management in making such estimates. In determining long-term 

electricity sale prices, the most important inputs in the model are; demand in the coming years, renewable 

energy capacity and capacity factor development, electricity export & import development. Other than 

long-term electricity sale prices, the most important assumptions of discounted cash flow method are; 

projected generation amount, weighted average cost of capital (discount rate) and US Dollar/TL foreign 

exchange rates. 
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2 Basis of presentation of consolidated financial statements (continued) 

2.8 Significant accounting judgments, estimates and assumptions (continued) 

The parameters applied in the valuation and the valuation methods used are summarized below: 

 

*discounted cash flow 

31 December 2021

Power Plants Valuation Date

Valuation 

Method

Weighted 

Average 

Cost of 

Capital

Average 

MCP After 

FIT-USD

Generation 

Volume Realized 

in 2021 

(MWh/Yıl)

Expected Future 

Generation Volume 

(MWh/Year)

Dalaman I-V HPP 20 December 2021 DCF (*) 9.9% 71              66,481 96,212

Gökyar HPP 20 December 2021 DCF (*) 9.9% 71              19,074 26,671

Toros HPP 20 December 2021 DCF (*) 9.9% 61              94,171 183,125

LFG BBP 20 December 2021 DCF (*) 9.9% 69              1,452 1,610

Feslek HPP 20 December 2021 DCF (*) 9.9% 71              8,396 14,792

Koyulhisar HPP 20 December 2021 DCF (*) 9.9% 71              100,826 223,816

Mentaş HPP 20 December 2021 DCF (*) 9.9% 71              77,632 105,123

Bereket I-II HPP 20 December 2021 DCF (*) 9.9% 71              8,241 11,862

Göktaş HPP 20 December 2021 DCF (*) 9.9% 62              471,974 873,133

Çırakdamı HPP 20 December 2021 DCF (*) 9.9% 61              78,410 119,516

Dereli HPP 20 December 2021 DCF (*) 9.9% 61              76,646 117,961

Yalova WPP 20 December 2021 DCF (*) 9.9% 64              152,367 129,676

Söke WPP 20 December 2021 DCF (*) 9.9% 64              177,181 165,133

Kızıldere GPP 20 December 2021 DCF (*) 9.9% 71                                     -                                 -   

Uşak WPP 20 December 2021 DCF (*) 9.9% 61              154,520 115,491

Akıncı HPP 20 December 2021 DCF (*) 9.9% 71              176,840 395,562

Aksu HPP 20 December 2021 DCF (*) 9.9% 61              95,977 92,809

31 December 2020

Power Plants Valuation Date

Valuation 

Method

Weighted 

Average 

Cost of 

Capital

Average 

MCP After 

FIT-USD

Generation 

Volume Realized 

in 2020 

(MWh/Yıl)

Expected Future 

Generation Volume 

(MWh/Year)

Dalaman I-V HPP 4 January 2021 DCF (*) 9.8% 42              75,750 103,012

Gökyar HPP 4 January 2021 DCF (*) 9.8% 42              19,985 28,438

Toros HPP 4 January 2021 DCF (*) 9.8% 55              231,132 188,650

LFG BBP 4 January 2021 DCF (*) 9.8% 56              2,964 2,404

Feslek HPP 4 January 2021 DCF (*) 9.8% 42              9,391 15,690

Koyulhisar HPP 4 January 2021 DCF (*) 9.8% 42              177,380 224,963

Mentaş HPP 4 January 2021 DCF (*) 9.8% 42              101,532 103,294

Bereket I-II HPP 4 January 2021 DCF (*) 9.8% 42              10,461 12,682

Göktaş HPP 4 January 2021 DCF (*) 9.8% 81              846,429 874,434

Çırakdamı HPP 4 January 2021 DCF (*) 9.8% 55              99,799 122,088

Dereli HPP 4 January 2021 DCF (*) 9.8% 59              99,229 121,942

Yalova WPP 4 January 2021 DCF (*) 9.8% 63              150,421 136,267

Söke WPP 4 January 2021 DCF (*) 9.8% 63              157,329 161,019

Kızıldere GPP 4 January 2021 DCF (*) 12.6% 42                                     -                            3,281 

Uşak WPP 4 January 2021 DCF (*) 9.8% 59              131,342 112,831

Akıncı HPP 4 January 2021 DCF (*) 9.8% 68              361,978 404,290

Aksu HPP 4 January 2021 DCF (*) 9.8% 59              82,098 94,306
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2 Basis of presentation of consolidated financial statements (continued) 

2.8 Significant accounting judgments, estimates and assumptions (continued) 

i) Electricity sales prices are exchanged for FIT in the period that each plant is subject to FIT 

prices (73 USD / MWh in HPP, 73 USD / MWh in WPP and 133 USD / MWH in BPP). 

Whichever price estimates are high, was created with the assumption that sales will be made 

at that price. FIT periods of Koyulhisar, Kızıldere, Gökyar and Mentaş power plants have 

expired as of 2019, 2018, 2016 and 2017 respectively.  

ii) As it is predicted that the sales prices will be higher than the market clearing price during the 

FIT utilization period, it is foreseen that the FIT price will be used during the valuation model. 

iii) After the FIT period, the market clearing price (MCP) has been calculated with two different 

price scenarios (the best and the worst) provided by the Group's commercial and technical 

teams. The average of these prices used in fair value calculation. 

iv) Historical load factors based on adjusted electricity generation amounts with the assumption 

that these amounts that are free of one-off events reflected generation projections for the 

future. 

 
B. Deferred tax assets for the carry forward tax losses 
 

Deferred tax liabilities are recognized for all taxable temporary differences, while deferred tax assets 
resulting from deductible temporary differences are recognized to the extent that it is probable that future 
taxable profit will be available against which the deductible temporary difference can be utilized. 
 
As of 31 December 2021, deferred tax asset amounting to TL 498,453,642 (31 December 2020: 37,575,261) 
is recognized upon the unused tax losses. Expiration date of unused tax losses is 31 December 2026. 
Aforementioned deferred tax asset, is calculated by the Group regarding the profit expectations in foreseeable 
future and deferred tax liabilities’ reversal in relevant periods. In case, such profit expectations not being 
realized or differences rising from deferred tax asset and liability are concluded in different periods than 
expectation, aforementioned deferred tax assets will be recorded as expense in profit and loss statements.  

 

2.9 Cash flow hedge transactions 

For a hedge of foreign currency risk, the foreign currency component of a non-derivative financial asset 

or liability may be designated, as a hedging instrument. The foreign currency risk component of a non-

derivative financial instrument is determined in accordance with IAS 21. 

 

Accordingly, starting from 20 March 2021, the Company hedge the spot risk of highly probable forecast 

sales that are denominated in USD with its financial liability in the same foreign currency. 

 

While the Company’s functional currency is TRY, the company is exposed to FX risks due to its finances 

and operations. AYDEM has outstanding USD debt due to power plant investments. The company also 

experiences significant sales revenue in USD.
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2 Basis of presentation of consolidated financial statements (continued) 

2.9 Cash flow hedge transactions (continued) 

The source of USD denominated revenue is sales of electricity generated via renewable power plants. 

Such production is incentivized in Turkey through a feed‐in tariff mechanism (Council of Ministers 

Decree No. 2013/5625). The kWh sale price of generated electricity is guaranteed in USD prices, whereas 

the amount of future renewable generation remains uncertain and depends on climate conditions and/or 

operational risks. The feed‐in tariff (“FIT”) revenues are calculated on a daily basis, and are aggregated 

at monthly intervals. This enables the Company to classify expected future revenues as a monthly stream 

of forecasted USD cash inflows for risk management purposes. 

 

The Company’s foreign currency risk management objective is to rely on natural currency hedges due to 

operations. It achieves this feat by aligning its forecasted USD inflows and its USD loan/bond payments. 

Moreover, the forecasted USD inflows vs scheduled USD loan repayments constitute a hedged portfolio 

that allows a Cash Flow Hedge Accounting relationship to reduce the Company’s income statement 

volatility. In particular, the Company associates its forecasted future USD cash inflows due to renewable‐

generated electricity sales, with its outstanding USD loans. The Company is implementing Hedge 

Accounting under IFRS 9 to reflect its economic hedges onto financial reporting: 

 

Hedge Accounting Component  Definition 

Hedged Item Forecasted future USD cash inflows due to FIT incentive 

Hedging Instrument USD denominated loans 

Hedged Risk Foreign exchange risk of forecasted future USD cash inflows due to FIT 

incentive 

 

As of 31 December 2021, the amount of forecasted revenue under FIT is USD 736,915,430 whereas the 

total notional of the outstanding USD denominated loans is USD 750,000,000. The Group designates 

USD 650,000,000 of this amount as part of its hedge accounting relationship, per IFRS 9 6.2.4 (c). Due 

to under‐hedged nature of the hedged‐item, the Company achieves 1:1 hedge ratio with the hedging 

instrument at all times by way of re‐balancing, in line with IFRS 9.6.4.1.c.iii. 

The maturity breakdown of the designated layer of the hedging instrument notional as of 31 December 

2021 is provided below; 

 

Payment Date Principal Payment Amount 

February 2025        65,000,000  

August 2025        65,000,000  

February 2026        65,000,000  

August 2026        65,000,000  

February 2027       390,000,000  

Total       650,000,000  
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2 Basis of presentation of consolidated financial statements (continued) 

2.9 Cash flow hedge transactions (continued) 

The accounting treatment applied with respect to the cash flow hedge is as follows:  

 

 The portion of the foreign exchange gain or loss of the hedging instrument (USD denominated 

loans) that is determined to be an effective hedge is recognised in other comprehensive income 

(“OCI”), until the accompanying hedged item (forecasted USD cash inflows) occurs 

 Any ineffective portion of the hedge is recognized each reporting period in consolidated 

statement of profit or loss as “Finance Expenses – Foreign Exchange losses”, 

 The hedged item, revenue, is recognised in accordance with IFRS 15 and the settlement of the 

hedging instrument is realised through the repayments of the loan. 

 Gains and losses deferred in OCI, remain in OCI until the cash flows associated with the hedged 

item occur, At the time when a forecast sale occurs, the respective amount of foreign exchange 

gain/loss is reclassified from OCI to profit or loss (within financial expense – “Finance Expenses 

– Foreign Exchange losses transferred from equity (cash flow hedge)”) as a reclassification 

adjustment in the same periods during which the hedged expected forecasted sales affect profit 

or loss, 
 If the cash flows are not expected to occur, then the corresponding ‘previously effective’ foreign 

exchange gain/loss in OCI are recycled immediately to consolidated statement of profit or loss 

as “Finance Expenses – Foreign Exchange losses transferred from equity (cash flow hedge)”, 

 

As of  31 December 2021, the hedge relationship has been measured as %97 effective, Accordingly, the 

foreign exchange losses incurred between the designation date and the closing date amounting to TL 

3,896,919,641 has been treated as follows:  

 
Foreign Exchange Loss relating to USD Loans 20 March – 31 December 

2021 

Recognized in OCI TL 3,803,577,103 

Recognized in profit or loss (ineffective portion) TL 93,342,538 

  

The amount reclassified from OCI to profit or loss as Fınance expenses – 

Foreign Exchange losses transferred from equity (cash flow hedge)- note 

19 

TL 53,341,983 

 

As a result of the sensitivity analysis performed on the forecasted revenue figures, the Group concluded 

that the 10% increase / decrease in the forecasts do not have a significant effect on the evaluation of the 

hedge effectiveness tests. 
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2.10 Significant Developments Regarding the Current Year 

The necessary actions were taken by the Group management to minimize the possible effects of COVID-

19, which affects the whole world, on the operations and financial position of the Group. Meanwhile, 

actions were taken by the Group to minimize the increase in investment expenditures and operational 

expenses, and the cash management strategy is considered to strengthen the liquidity position. The 

COVID-19 pandemic did not have a significant impact on the financial position or performance of the 

Group. 

 

While the Group preparing the consolidated financial statements dated 31 December 2021, the Group 

evaluated the possible effects of the COVID-19 pandemic on the consolidated financial statements and 

reviewed the estimates and assumptions used in the preparation of the consolidated financial statements. 

In this context, possible changes in the revaluation of power plants and also possible impairments in 

financial and non-financial assets in the consolidated financial statements of 31 December 2021 is 

analysed and the necessary changes is reflected in the consolidated financial statements. 
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3 Segment reporting 

3.1  Statement of financial position 
 

Financial information is provided on a power plant-by-power plant basis to members of executive 

management, which collectively comprise the chief operating decision maker. The information provided 

to the members of the executive management includes results or operation, valuation gains and losses on 

power plants, assets and liabilities of each power plant. The individual properties are also monitored 

based on type of power plants such as Hydro, Wind, Geothermal and BIO. The Group management 

considers that it is appropriate to report the segments based on this aggregation, to monitor the financial 

performance.  

 

The reportable segments of the Group are monitored based on the electricity generation type of power 

plants by the Group management. The decision making related to funding allocation and requirements 

are also managed based on these projects. Group management assesses segment performance over 

earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and amortization (“EBITDA”). EBITDA is calculated by 

adjusting the operating income by depreciation and amortization expenses.  

 

The accounting policies adopted by each of the reportable segments are consistent with IFRS used in 

preparation of consolidated financial statements of the Group. The detailed information regarding the 

reporting segments of Group is presented below:
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3 Segment reporting (continued) 

3.1  Statement of financial position (continued) 

 

 
 
Segment assets are composed of its power plants and segment liabilities are composed of its financial liabilities.  

 

(*) Includes assets and liabilities of Sarı Perakende whose main business activity is trading of electricity.  

 

(**) Includes assets and liabilities which are not attributable to a reportable segment such as cash, trade receivables, other assets, trade payables, other liabilities, tax assets and 

liabilities, etc.  
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3 Segment reporting (continued) 

3.2  Statement of profit or loss 

 
 

(*) General administration expenses mainly consist of personnel expenses, tax expenses and consultancy expenses. 

(**) EBITDA is calculated by adjusting the operating income by depreciation and amortization expenses. 
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3 Segment reporting (continued) 

3.2  Statement of profit or loss (continued) 

 

(*)   General administration expenses mainly consist of personnel expenses, consultancy expenses and information technologies cyber security services and 

management fees.  

(**) EBITDA is calculated by adjusting the operating income by depreciation and amortization expenses. 
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4 Related party disclosures  
 

Aydem Holding A.Ş. (“Aydem Holding”) is the ultimate parent company and controlling party of the 

Group.  

 

Transactions with related parties are classified according to the following groups and include all related 

party disclosures in this note. 
 

(1) Ultimate parent and its subsidiaries 

(2) Other companies controlled by the shareholders of Aydem Holding and other key persons. 

 

Since the transactions between the Group and its subsidiaries, which are related parties of the Group, are 

eliminated during consolidation, they are not disclosed in this note. 

 

The shareholders, key management personnel and members of the Board of Directors, their families and 

partners and entities controlled by the ultimate shareholders are considered and referred to as related 

parties in the carve-out consolidated financial statements. The Group companies have carried out various 

transactions with related parties during their operations. 

 

Trade receivables from related parties generally arise from sale of electricity. Receivables are not 

collateralized. Trade payables to related parties generally arise from the electricty purchases and 

consultancy expenses. 

 

Other receivables from related parties mainly arise from financing transactions. At the end of each quarter 

period for other receivables and payables interest is accrued using market interest rates, which are 

determined using the Group external cost of borrowing. 

 

4.1 Related party balances 

As of 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2020, short-term trade receivables due from related parties 

are as follows: 

 
 
(*) Consists of receivables related to electricity trade. 

As of 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2020, short-term other receivables due from related parties 

are as follows: 

 
 

(**) As of 31 December 2021, it consists of receivables related to the sale of 50% shares belonging to Yalova Karacabey. 
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4 Related party disclosures (continued) 

4.1 Related party balances (continued) 

As of 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2020, short-term trade payables due to related parties are as 

follows: 

 
 

(***) Consists of personnel services, management fees which reflected and common expense invoices related to the public 

offering and the consultancy service for Eurobond. 
 

As of 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2020, short-term other payables due to related parties are as 

follows:  

 

(*) As of 31 December 2020, the balance consist of the payables arising from the acquiring the non-controlling shares at Karhes 

from Zeki Atilla AKALIN. Short term other payables due to related parties paid in 2021. 

 

As of 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2020 long-term other payables to related parties are as 

follows: 

 
 
(**) Consist of Acquisition of Düzce through under common control business transaction. The payment term is 27 June 2029 

according to aggreement signed between the Aydem Yenilenebilir and Aydem EPSAŞ. 
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4 Related party disclosures (continued) 

4.1 Related party balances (continued) 

4.2 Related party transactions 

For the year ended 31 December 2021 and 2020, income and expense transactions with related parties 

are as follows: 

 
(*) Consist of sales within the bilateral agreements and  imbalance revenue. Consist of imbalance revenue amounting to TL 

28,782,704. 

(**) Consists of legal consultancy reflection invoices within the scope of public offering. 

 
(*) The group consists of imbalance cost, electricty bill and head office rent expenses. Consist of imbalance cost amounting to 

TL 37,030,596. 

(**) The amount consists of management fee charged by Aydem Holding. Management fee aroused from the restructuring and 

law consultancy given by Aydem Holding. 

(***) Consists of automobile rental expense invoices and IT reflection invoices. 

 

 
(*) Includes the effects of foreign exchange denominated receivables resulting from the sale of shares of Karacabey. 
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4 Related party disclosures (continued) 

4.2 Related party transactions (continued) 

 
(*) Consists of foreign exchange differences arising from electricity trade. 

(**) Consists of foreign exchange differences arising from the IT Consulting service received. 

 

The executive management team of the Group is comprised of general manager and directors. For the 

year ended 31 December 2021 and 2020, the sum of short-term benefits, such as remuneration and 

attendance fees, provided to key management executives personnel is as follows: 

 
 

 

5 Trade receivables and payables 

Short term trade receivables 

As of 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2020, the Group's short-term trade receivables are as 

follows: 

 
As of 31 December 2021, the average term of trade receivables is approximately 20-30 days (2020: 

20-30 days) 

 

As of  31 December 2021 and 31 December 2020, short-term trade receivables consist of the following 

items: 

 
(*) Consist of sales within the bilateral agreements. 

(**) It consists of the Company’s unbilled receivables arising from the electricity sales.  
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5 Trade receivables and payables (continued) 

Short term trade receivables (continued) 
The movement of provisions for doubtful receivables for the period ended 31 December 2021 and 31 

December 2020 are as follows: 

 
 

Current provision and provisions no longer required are explained in Note 18. 

The Group's exposure to credit risk is explained in Note 23. 

 

As of 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2020, The aging analysis of trade receivables are as follows: 

 

 

Short term trade payables 

As of 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2020, the Group's short-term trade payables are as follows: 

 
As of 31 December 2021, the average payment term of trade payables due to third parties is 

approximately 30-90 days (2020: 30-90 days) 

 

As of 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2020, short-term trade payables from third parties consist of 

the following items: 

 
 

The Group's exposure to liquidity and foreign currency risks related to its trade payables is explained in                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                              

Note 23. 



Aydem Yenilenebilir Enerji Anonim Şirketi and Its Subsidiaries 

Notes to the consolidated financial statements 

for the year ended 31 December 2021 
 (Amounts expressed in Turkish Lira (“TL”), unless otherwise indicated) 

 
 

 

 
49 

6 Other receivables and payables 

Other short-term receivables 

As of 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2020, the Group's short-term other receivables are as follows: 

 
 

As of  31 December 2021 and 31 December 2020, short-term other receivables from third parties consist 

of the following items: 

 
(*) This amount includes the compensation income accrual related to the loss of revenue due to the 

accident occurred in Göktaş-II power plant in 2019. All receivables were collected in 2021. 

 

Other long-term receivables 

 

As of 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2020, other long term receivables from third parties consist 

of the following items: 
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6 Other receivables and payables (continued) 

Other short-term payables 

As of 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2020, the Group's short-term other payables are as follows: 

 
As of 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2020, other short-term payables to third parties consist of the 

following items: 

 
 
 

7 Inventories 

As of 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2020, inventories are composed of spare parts for property, 

plant and equipments: 

 
(*) Inventories consist of spare parts used in the maintenance of power plants. 

 

As of  31 December 2021, there is no insurance coverage on the Group's inventories (31 December 2020: 

None).  
 

As of 31 December 2021, there are no inventories presented as collateral for liabilities (31 December 

2020: None). 
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8 Property, plant and equipments and right of use assets 

8.1 Property, plant and equipments 
 

The ending 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2020, movements of property, plant and equipment are 

as follows: 

 
 

 
(*) In 2021, rehabilitation investments were made in order to increase the durability of the power plant 

structures, to maintain the operation and environmental safety, and to reduce the impact of possible 

efficiency losses, the powerhouse protection wall, transmission channel rehabilitation, river basin 

arrangement, spillway evacuation projects. 

(**) Consists of raw material purchases for hybrid projects designed to diversify resources, ensure 

production continuity and increase capacity utilization rates and efficiency by using more than one energy 

in the same network infrastructure in power plants. 

(***) Consists of advances given to suppliers for investments.
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8 Property, plant and equipments and right of use assets (continued) 

8.1 Property, plant and equipments (continued) 

As of 31 December 2021, there are pledges and mortgages on property, plant and equipments of the 

Group amounting to USD 1,248,750,000 in original currencies (31 December 2020: TL 3,172,003,251 

and USD 730,000,000 in original currencies) in favor of lenders. 
 

Total depreciation expense of property, plant and equipments amounting to TL 437,504,293 (31 

December 2020: TL 340,793,745) has been reflected to cost of sales and amounting to TL 3,221,571  

(31 December 2020: TL 2,389,546) has been reflected to general administration expense. 
 

The Group determined that the power plants constitute a separate class of property, plant and equipment, 

based on the nature, characteristics and risks of the property and as also mentioned in Note 2, elected to 

use revaluation method for such assets.  
 

 

8.2 Right of uses 

The Group has lease contracts for various items of plant, machinery, vehicles and other equipment used 

in its operations.  

 

As of 31 December 2021, movements in right of use assets during the period are as follows: 

 
 

As of 31 December 2020, movements in right of use assets during the period are as follows: 
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9. Other intangible assets 

As of 5 May 2017, the Company has signed a Transfer of Operating Rights Agreement (“Agreement”) 

with the Privatization Administration and the Electricity Generation Corporation (“EÜAŞ”) for Adıgüzel 

and Kemer Hydroelectric Plants. According to the agreement, the Company obtained the operating rights 

of the plants for 49 years and is responsible for the transfer of EÜAŞ at the end of the period in a complete 

and a functional state. During the contract period, the Company has to carry out all the maintenance, 

repairs and improvements which are necessary to ensure the convenience and efficiency of the plants for 

the generation activity, at their own expense. The Company is responsible for any damages and losses 

that may occur in the generation facilities in general referred as “Power Plants”. During the contact 

period; the Company has to perform all kinds of additional facilities, the investment for rehabilitation 

and development in accordance with the legislation, and will obtain the approval of EÜAŞ during the 

works and procedures to be carried out within this framework. In addition, the company must obtain 

approval from EÜAŞ in case it wants to make investments and transactions for capacity reduction. 
  

As of the transfer date, it is EÜAŞ’s responsibility to monitor and solve the administrative, legal disputes 

regarding the ownership of the immovable on which plants are located and the immovable in use, that 

are available now or will arise after the transfer date and all responsibilities and obligations arising from 

this matter.  
 

Intangible assets related to agreements are amortized until the end of the related contract period.  
 

Although the Company has the right to obtain substantially all of the economic benefits from use of the 

asset, it does not have the right to manage the use of power plants according to Article 7 of the contract 

signed with the EÜAŞ. Therefore, the contract has not been considered as a lease contract under IFRS 

16. On the other hand, the Agreement is not accounted within the scope of IFRIC 12 Service Consession 

Agreements because although the residual interest of the power plants belongs to EÜAŞ, EÜAŞ does not 

control at what price electricty will be sold. 
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9. Other intangible assets (continued) 

As of 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2020, movements of intangible assets are as follows 

 

 
 

Amortization expense of intangible assets amounting to TL 6,614,286 (31 December 2020: TL 

6,614,286) has been reflected to cost of sales, amortization expense of intangible assets amounting to TL 

1,539,908 (31 December 2020: TL 792,086) has been reflected to general administrative expenses. 
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10 Provisions, contingent assets and liabilities 

10.1 Short-term provisions 

As of 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2020, the breakdown of short-term provisions are as follows: 

 
 

Other short-term provisions consist of provisions for ongoing litigations of the Group. The movement 

table is as follows: 

 
 

Short-term provisions for employee benefits consist of unused vacation days provisions. The current 

period movement table is as follows: 
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10 Provisions, contingent assets and liabilities (continued) 

10.2 Contingent liabilities 

As of 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2020, the Group's collateral / pledge / mortgage (“CPM”) 
balances are as follows: 

 
 

(*) Administrative fines and other administrative sanctions for all structures, with the decision of the Dalaman, Ortaca and 
Köyceğiz Municipal Committees, for alleged violation of the reconstruction legislation due to the absence of a building permit 
for Dalaman HEPP 1-2-3-4-5 and Gökyar HEPPs. Since these administrative actions are against the law and HEPPs are public 
investments, they are exempt from construction permits. For this reason, lawsuits have been filed by the Company to the 
Administrative Courts for the cancellation of the transactions. The court granted a stay of execution in the lawsuits filed. As a 
result of the trial process, the court decided to accept 44 cases. The court decided to cancel the administrative sanctions. 
Continuing lawsuits regarding te same issues are not expected to create a risk or any liability and cause cash outflows to the 
Company. 
 
On 26 June 2019, the Company signed a common terms agreement (“CTA”) with six creditors to restructure its outstanding 
loans and standardize the common terms applicable to nine of its outstanding facility agreements. The loans with respect to 
Çırakdamı HPP, Dereli HPP and Göktaş HPPs were also restructured on 26 December 2019 and the terms of the CTA became 
applicable to the loans related to these power plants as well. The CTA was amended and restated on 26 December 2019 and 
Türkiye Garanti Bankası A.Ş. acceded to the CTA as a creditor. The Company has signed the following security documents as 
collateral of the CTA: (i) share pledge agreement, (ii) assignment of trade receivable agreement including receivables from 
EPİAŞ, (iii) account pledge agreement. According to the CTA, a commercial enterprise pledge on all of Company’s movable 
properties and a mortgage on all of Company’s immovable properties will be established in favor of 7 creditors. However, these 
agreements are not executed yet. Until the establishment of the new mortgage and commercial enterprise pledge, current 
mortgages and commercial enterprise pledges shall be valid. Also, a loss-payee clause entitles the lenders to collects all 
compensation payments under the insurance contracts of the Company. As of 2 August 2021, all loans were closed with the 
issuance of bonds, and the collateral/pledge/mortgages given under the name of Company loan agreements were abolished. On 
2 December 2021, within the scope of the Eurobond, movable pledge was established on the Company's movable assets to form 
the guarantee of the bond issuance. 
 
The Company are subject to litigation and regulatory proceedings in the normal course of the business. From time to time, The 

Company may be a party to legal proceedings, including, but not limited to, personal injury claims, commercial disputes, 

regulatory or administrative actions and employment matters. These proceedings may be brought by, among others, current, 

former or prospective employees, suppliers, governmental agencies or other third parties. For instance, The Company provided 

a guarantee to one of the affiliates, Yatağan Termik Enerji Üretim A.Ş., (“Yatağan”) a subsidiary of Aydem Holding, with 

respect to certain work that GE Enerji Endüstri Ticaret ve Servis A.Ş. (“GE”) had contracted to perform for Yatağan. A dispute 

has arisen between Yatağan and GE, and as a result GE has initiated a lawsuit against Yatağan and the Company, seeking EUR 

9,7 million in damages. The exchange of petitions phase has been completed, and all necessary objections and evidence have 

been filed by both us and Yatağan. A preliminary examination hearing was held on 21 January 2021, and it was decided to 

proceed with the investigation phase of the case. The date for the first hearing has been set as 1 April 2021. At the lawsuit dated 

24 June 2021, The court was decided to examine the commercial books and records of the parties with the participation of expert 

experts on 6 September 2021 that issue a report as a result of the examination, and the next lawsuit date was determined as 2 

June 2022. Even if the lawsuit is concluded against Yatağan, the management of the company does not think that it will bear 

any liability or make any payments due to being the guarantor of the Company.
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10 Provisions, contingent assets and liabilities (continued) 

10.3 Letters of guarantees received and guarantees given 

 
(*) Guarantees given, in general, are comprised of the letters of guarantees given to the several institutions and 

organizations within the operations of the Group (to Energy Market Regulatory Authority (“EMRA”), Turkish 

Electricity Transmission Company (“TEİAŞ”), Privatization Administration and to the judicial authorities for some 

of the on-going lawsuits. Guarantees given to Privatization Administration was cancelled due to the last installment 

paid on 5 May 2021. 

 
 

(**) The guarantees received are the guarantees taken against the risk of not providing the services to be obtained 

from the suppliers. 

(***) The letters of guarantee received from Aydem EPSAŞ and Gediz EPSAŞ due to electricity trade. 

 

10.4 Long term provisions 

As of 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2020, the long-term provisions are as follows: 
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10 Provisions, contingent assets and liabilities (continued) 

IFRS require actuarial valuation methods to be developed to estimate the enterprise’s obligation under 
defined benefit plans. Accordingly, the following actuarial assumptions have been used in the 
calculation of the total liability. Related rates have been presented by considering the weighted average 
of actuarial assumptions of the subsidiaries within the scope of consolidation. 

 

The main actuarial assumptions used as of 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2020 are as follows: 

 
 31 December 

2021 

31 December 

2020 

Expected interest in the coming years % 21.4 13.5 

Expected inflation in the coming years % 17 9.5 

Discount rate % 3.76 3.65 

 

11 Liabilities for employee benefits 

As of 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2020, short-term payables related to employee benefits are 

as follows: 

 

 

12 Other current, non-current assets and other liabilities 

As of 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2020, other current assets are as follows: 
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12 Other current, non-current assets and other liabilities (continued) 

As of 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2020, other non-current assets are as follows:  

 

As of 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2020, other liabilities are as follows: 

 
 

13 Share capital 

Paid-in capital 

The capital structure of the Group as of 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2020 are as follows: 

 

As of 31 December 2021, the Group's paid-in capital is divided into 705,000,000 shares (31 December 

2020: 700,000,000 shares), each with a nominal value of TL 1. The ultimate shareholder of the Group 

is Aydem Holding Anonim Şirketi, whose controlling individual shareholder is Ceyhan Saldanlı. 
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13 Share capital (continued) 

Legal reserves 

 

According to the Turkish Commercial Code (“TCC”), legal reserves are comprised of first and second 

legal reserves. The first legal reserves are generated by annual appropriations amounting to 5 percent 

of income disclosed in the Company’s statutory accounts until it reaches 20 percent of paid-in share 

capital. If the dividend distribution is made in accordance with Dividend Distribution Communiqué II-

19.1, a further 1/10 of dividend distributions, in excess of 5 percent of paid-in capital is to be 

appropriated to increase second legal reserves. If the dividend distribution is made in accordance with 

statutory records, a further 1/11 of dividend distributions, in excess of 5 percent of paid-in capitals are 

to be appropriated to increase second legal reserves. Under the TCC, the legal reserves can be used only 

to offset losses and are not available for any other usage unless they exceed 50 percent of paid-in capital. 

At 31 December 2021, legal reserves of the Group amounted to TL 1,523,866 (31 December 2020: TL 

1,523,866). 
 

Dividend distribution 

 

Companies distribute their profits in accordance with their dividend policy determined by the General 

Assembly and with General Assembly resolution in accordance with provisions of the relevant 

legislation. According to the Turkish commrcial code, legal reserves can only be distributed as 

dividends after they reached 50% of the company’s paid in capital or issued share capital. Accordingly 

the Group determined its dividend distribution policy in line with the communique. Companies pay 

dividends according to their articles of association or dividend distribution policy. In addition, 

dividends may be paid in equal or different amount of installments, and cash dividend advances may 

be distributed over profit for the year period presented in financial statements. 

 

Share premium 

 

Excess amount of selling price and nominal value for each share was recorded as share premium in 

equity. According to the Turkish commercial law number 6102, Aydem Enerji Yatırımları A.Ş. which 

is 99,99% owner of Aydem Yenilenebilir, made an share premium payment amounting to TL 

1,310,500,000 and capital amounting to TL 399,950,000 on 27 December 2019 in order to improve 

financial position of Aydem Yenilenebilir. 
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14 Revenue 

Details of revenue for the year ended 31 December 2021 and 2020 is as follows: 

 

Management monitor revenues into two categories due to its risk group: - FIT and Other than FIT. 

 

15 Cost of sales 

Details of the cost of sales for the year ended 31 December 2021 and 2020 is as follows: 

 

Cost of energy generation mainly includes costs of energy sales and generation, system usage and 

transmission costs, maintenance and repair expenses and personnel expenses.  
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16 General and administrative expenses 

The details of general administrative expenses for the year ended 31 December 2021 and 2020 is as 

follows: 

 

(*) The amount consists of management fee charged by Aydem Holding. Management fee arose due to 

the mainly charge of personnel costs and consultancy costs given by Aydem Holding.  

 

(**) Consist of promotion and advertising service fees received within the scope of the public offering. 

 

17 Expenses by nature 

The details of expenses incurred for the year ended 31 December 2021 and 2020 is as follows: 
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18 Other operating income and other operating expenses 

Details of other operating income for the year ended 31 December 2021 and 2020 is as follows: 

 

 

(*) The Group has been entitled to TL 38,480,813 (USD 5.047.850 in original currency) insurance 

compensation income related to the revenue loss due to the accident occurred at Göktaş-II power plant. 

As of 31 December 2020, TL 17,485,550 (USD 2,193,104 in original currency) of compensation from 

insurance company has been collected and the remaining TL 20,955,263 (Note 6, USD 2.854.746 in 

original currency) has been accounted as other receivable in the consolidated financial statements. 

 

Details of other operating expenses for the year ended 31 December 2021 and 2020 is as follows: 

 

(*) Company has participated in the "Fire and Flood Disaster Aid Campaign" initiated by Disaster And 

Emergency Management Presidency (“AFAD”) to meet the needs of the victims of the fire and flood 

disasters that occurred during the year. A donation of 4,000,000 TL was made on 10 September 2021. 

The company donated 4,000,000 TL on 10 September 2021. 
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19 Financial income and expense 

The details of finance income for the year ended 31 December 2021 and 2020 is as follows : 

 

The details of financial expenses for the year ended 31 December 2021 and 2020 is as follows : 

 

 

 

20 Gains & Losses from Investing Activities 

The details of gains and losses from investing activities for the year ended 31 December 2021 and 2020 

is as follows : 

 

 

 

 

 



Aydem Yenilenebilir Enerji Anonim Şirketi and Its Subsidiaries 

Notes to the consolidated financial statements 

for the year ended 31 December 2021 
 (Amounts expressed in Turkish Lira (“TL”), unless otherwise indicated) 

 
 

 

 
65 

21 Taxation on income 

Corporation Tax 

 

The Group is subject to corporation tax applicable in Turkey. The corporate tax rate is generally 25%.  

Corporate tax rate to be accrued on the taxable corporate income is determined by adding the expenses 

that cannot be deducted from the tax base in the determination of the commercial income and deducting 

gains from the tax, non-taxable income and other discounts (previous year losses, if any, and investment 

discounts used, if preferred). 

 

In Turkey, provisional tax is calculated and accrued on a quarterly basis. The provisional tax rate that 

should be calculated on corporate earnings during the taxation phase of 2021 corporate earnings as of 

temporary tax periods is 25% (31 December 2020: 20%). However, in accordance with the Provisional 

Article 10 added to the Corporate Tax Law, the 25% corporate tax rate will be applied as 23% for the 

2022 taxation period and 20% for the corporate earnings of the 2023 and later taxation periods. Losses 

can be carried forward for a maximum of 5 years to be deducted from the taxable profit that will occur 

in the coming years. However, the losses cannot be deducted retrospectively from previous years' 

profits. 

 

There is no clear and definitive agreement on tax assessment procedures in Turkey. Companies file 

their tax returns between 1-25 April following the close of the accounting year to which they relate. 

These declarations and the accounting records that are the basis of these declarations can be examined 

and changed by the Tax Office within 5 years. 

 

Deferred Tax 

 

The Group recognizes deferred tax assets and liabilities based upon temporary differences arising 

between its financial statements as reported for IFRS purposes and its statutory tax financial statements. 

These differences usually result in the recognition of revenue and expenses in different reporting 

periods for IFRS and tax purposes. 

 

Income withholding tax 

 

In addition to corporate taxes, companies should also calculate income withholding taxes on any 

dividends distributed, except for companies receiving dividends who are Turkish residents and Turkish 

branches of foreign companies. Income withholding is 15% as of 31 December 2021. Undistributed 

dividends incorporated in share capital are not subject to income withholding tax. 

 

Transfer pricing arrangements 

 

In Turkey, the transfer pricing provisions of the Corporate Tax Law "disguised profit distribution via 

transfer pricing" is stated in Article 13 entitled. The communiqué of 18 November 2007 on disguised 

profit distribution through transfer pricing regulates the details of the application. 
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21 Taxation on income (continued) 

If the taxpayer purchases or sells goods or services at a price or price that they determine in contradiction 

with the principle of conformity with peers, the gain is deemed to be completely or partially distributed 

implicitly through transfer pricing. Disguised profit distribution through such transfer pricing is considered 

an unacceptable expense for corporate tax. 
 

Transfer pricing regulations 

 

Transfer pricing is disclosed in the 13th clause of the Corporate Tax Law under the heading “veiled 

shifting of profit” via transfer pricing. The application details are stated in the “general communiqué 

regarding veiled shifting of profits via transfer pricing” published on 18 November 2007. Veiled 

shifting of profits via transfer pricing will not be deducted from tax assessment for the purposes of 

corporate tax. 
 

Current period tax asset 

The tax assets for the years ended 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2020 are as follows: 

 

 

 

Tax expense 

The income tax for the years ended 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2020 are as follows:
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21 Taxation on income (continued) 

Reconciliation of effective tax rate 

As of 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2020, the reported tax provision is different from the amount 

calculated using the statutory tax rate on profit before tax. The reconciliation of tax expense / income is 

as follows: 

 

(*) The effect arises from the use of 20% rate in deferred tax calculation for long-term temporary differences. 

 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities 

The movement of deferred tax liability is as follows:  
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21 Taxation on income (continued) 

As of 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2020, the breakdown of deferred tax liabilities is as follows: 

 

 

The breakdown of the parts of the Group and its subsidiaries for which deferred tax assets are created 

from carried forward tax losses is as follows: 
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22 Financial liabilities 

As of 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2020, the details of financial liabilities are as follows: 

 

(*) The Group on the Irish Stock Exchange issued 750,000,000 USD with a maturity of 5.5 years, coupon 

payments every 6 months, principal and coupon payments at maturity, annual fixed interest rate of 7.75%, 

on 2 August 2021. With the amount obtained through the bond issuance, the entire loan debt of the 

Company to the banks has been repaid, and the remaining amount is going to be used within the next 3 

years in line with the target of doubling the Company's installed power. 

 

The repayments of the loan and debt instruments agreements according to their original maturities as of 

31 December 2021 and 31 December 2020 are as follows: 

 

The repayments of the lease liabilities according to their original maturities as of 31 December 2021 and 

31 December 2020 are as follows: 
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22 Financial liabilities (continued) 

As of 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2020, terms and conditions of financial liabilities are as 

follows: 

 

 

Lease Liabilities 

 

 

The movement of financial liabilities for the period ended 31 December 2021 and 2020 is as follows: 
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23 Nature and level of risks arising from financial instruments 

Financial instruments and financial risk management 

 

The Group may be exposed to the following risks depending on the use of financial instruments: 

• Credit risk 

• Liquidity risk 

• Market risk 

• Operational risk 
 
This note provides information on the Group's exposure to the risks outlined above, the Group's 

objectives, policies and processes for measuring and managing risk, and the Group's management of 

capital. 

Credit risk 

Credit risk is the risk that a customer or counterparty will fail to fulfill its obligations under the contract 

and is mainly attributable to customer receivables. 

 

The carrying values of financial assets represent the maximum exposure to credit risk. 

The maximum credit risk the Group is exposed to as of 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2020 are 

as follows:  
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23 Nature and level of risks arising from financial instruments (continued) 

Credit risk (continued) 
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23 Nature and level of risks arising from financial instruments (continued) 
 

Liquidity risk 

 

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will not be able to meet its financial liabilities in the future. The 

Group's liquidity risk is managed by providing sufficient financing facilities from various financial 

institutions in a way that does not harm or damage the Group's reputation in order to fund the current and 

future debt requirements under normal conditions or in crisis situations.  

 

As at 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2020, the maturity of financial liabilities including estimated 

interest payments according to the payment schedule is as follows: 

  

 

 

Market risk 

Market risk; The risk of changes in the money market, such as exchange rates, interest rates or the prices 

of instruments traded in the securities markets, may change the Group's income or the value of its 

financial assets. Market risk management aims to optimize return while controlling market risk exposure 

within acceptable limits. 
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23 Nature and level of risks arising from financial instruments (continued) 

Currency risk 

While the Group’s functional currency is Turkish Lira, the Group is exposed to foreign exchange risks. 

The Group has outstanding US Dollar debt  instruments due to power plant investments. The Group also 

realizes significant USD indexed sales within the scope of the Feed-in Tariff. 

 

As of  31 December 2021 and 31 December 2020, the foreign currency position of the Group arises from 

foreign currency assets and liabilities stated in the table below. 

 
 

(*) Please refer to Note 2.9.



Aydem Yenilenebilir Enerji Anonim Şirketi and Its Subsidiaries 

Notes to the consolidated financial statements 

for the year ended 31 December 2021 
 (Amounts expressed in Turkish Lira (“TL”), unless otherwise indicated) 

 
 

 

 
75 

23 Nature and level of risks arising from financial instruments (continued) 

 

Sensitivity analysis 

The Group is mainly exposed to foreign currency risk in USD Dollars. The following table details the 

Group's sensitivity to a 10% increase and decrease in US Dollars and Euro. 10% is the rate used to report 

the exchange rate risk within the Group to the executives and this rate indicates the possible change in 

the exchange rates expected by the management. The sensitivity analysis covers only foreign currency 

denominated monetary items at the end of the year and shows the effects of the 10% increase in foreign 

exchange rates of these items at the end of the year excluding tax effects. A positive value indicates an 

increase in profit or loss and other equity items. 



Aydem Yenilenebilir Enerji Anonim Şirketi and Its Subsidiaries 

Notes to the consolidated financial statements 

for the year ended 31 December 2021 
 (Amounts expressed in Turkish Lira (“TL”), unless otherwise indicated) 

 
 

 

 
76 

23 Nature and level of risks arising from financial instruments (continued) 
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23 Nature and level of risks arising from financial instruments (continued) 
 

Capital risk managementss 

In managing capital, the Group's objectives are to maintain the Group's ability to continue to operate in 

order to maintain an optimal capital structure to provide returns to shareholders, benefits to other 

shareholders, and to reduce capital costs. 

 

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group determines the amount of dividend payable 

to shareholders. 

 

The Group monitors capital on the basis of the net financial debt / equity ratio. Net financial debt is 

calculated by deducting cash and cash equivalents from total financial debt. 

 

As of 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2020 net financial liabilities / equity ratios are as follows: 

 

 

Fair value of financial instruments 
 

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly 

transaction between market participants at the measurement date.  
 

The estimated fair values of financial instruments have been determined by the Group, using available 

market information and appropriate valuation methodologies. However, judgment is necessarily required 

to interpret market data to estimate the fair value. Accordingly, the estimates presented herein are not 

necessarily indicative of the amounts the Group could realize in a current market exchange. 
 

Following methods and assumptions were used to estimate the fair value of the financial instruments for 

which is practicable to estimate fair value: 
 

Financial assets 

 

The carrying values of financial assets including cash and cash equivalents which are accounted with 

their costs are estimated to be their fair values since they are short term. 
 

The carrying values of trade receivables along with the related allowances for uncollectability are 

estimated to be their fair values. 
 

Financial liabilities 

 

The carrying values of trade payables are estimated to be their fair values since they are short term and 

leasing liabilities are estimated to be their fair values assuming that there is no significant change in the 

market prices of similar leases with the same maturity.
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23 Nature and level of risks arising from financial instruments (continued) 
 

Fair value hierarchy table  
 

The Group classifies the fair value measurement of each class of financial instruments according to the 

source, using the three-level hierarchy, as follows: 
 

Level 1: Market price valuation techniques for the determined financial instruments traded in markets 

(unadjusted) 

Level 2: Other valuation techniques includes direct or indirect observable inputs 

Level 3: Valuation techniques does not contains observable market inputs 
  

 

 

24 Cash and Cash Equivalents 

 
 

As of 31 December 2021, the interest rate of the Group’s term TL denominated time deposits amounting  

is between 12% to 15.41% (31 December 2020: between 12% to 17.31%); US Dollars denominated 

time deposits amounting interest rate is between 0.10% to 1.80% (31 December 2020: between 0.15% 

to 1%). 
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25 Earnings per share 
 

The calculation of basic and diluted Earnings per share  for the year ended 31 December 2021; was 

based on the profit / (loss) attributable to ordinary shareholders of TL (120,291,640) (31 December 

2020: TL (557,431,333)) and a weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding of 703,383,978 

(year ended 31 December 2020: 700,000,000), as follows: 
 

 
 

 

26 Merger of entities under common control and acquisition of non-controlling 

interests 
 

 Disposal of investment accounted by the equity method (Yalova) 

Aydem Yenilenebilir sold the 50% shares of Yalova on 30 June 2020 for a consideration of TL 

38,316,320 to Aydem Holding A.Ş. As of 30 June 2020, the Group obtained a valuation report for 

Yalova from an independent valuation expert indicating a fair value of TL 36,471,000.  

 

 The Company recognised the transaction on basis of the fair value and the difference between the 

consideration amount and fair value of the associate disposed has been recognised in equity. The 

difference between the fair value of the associate and its carrying value has been recognised in profit or 

loss. 

Sales Price      38,316,320  

Gain on sale of shares in associate recognised in equity 

(Effect of Business Combination of Entities Under Common Control) 

 

1,845,320 

Fair value  36,471,000 

Derecognized Net Asset (31,536,921) 

  

Gain on sale of shares of associate recognised in profit or loss 4,934,079 

Total gain on sale of shares in associate 6,779,399 
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27 Independent audit fees and other fees related services received from independent 

audit firm 

The fees related to the services received by the Group from the independent auditor/independent audit 

firm are presented below: 

 
(*) Includes special independent audit fees related to Eurobond and Initial Public Offerings. 

 

28 Events after the reporting period 

-According to EMRA's Board decision dated 30/12/2021 on 7 January 2022; Within the scope of 

converting the license granted for the Uşak WPP project to a multi-source generation facility, the 

installation of a SPP with an installed power of 82.15 MWm was approved as an auxiliary resource. 

 

-According to EMRA's Board decision dated 23/12/2021 on 7 January 2022; Within the scope of 

transforming the license granted for the Yalova WPP project into a multi-source generation facility, the 

installation of a SPP with an installed power of 18.8765 MWm was approved as an auxiliary resource. 

 

-On 23 September 2021 and 09 November 2021, it has been announced that the bid submitted by Aydem 

Renewables, in the tender for the privatization of Akköprü HPP owned by Electricity Generation 

Company, has been the highest bid and that the tender decision was approved by the Competition 

Authority. However it has been declared to Aydem Renewables on 19 January 2022 that the tender has 

been cancelled by the President's Decision and this decision was notified to our Company on 24 January 

2022. 

 

- The Company, within the framework of Article 22 of the Capital Markets Law and Communiqué on 

Repurchased Shares of the Capital Markets Board (II-22.1) and the announcements of the Capital 

Markets Board dated 21 July 2016, 25 July 2016 and 23 March 2020, It is considered that the share 

price of the Company does not reflect the actual performance of the Company's activities, in order to 

protect the shareholders and to contribute to the formation of the share price in a stable and appropriate 

manner; 20,000,000 shares with a nominal value of TL 20,000,000 were subject to buy-back on 14 

February 2022. 

 

- On 16 February 2022, International credit rating agency which is namely Fitch Ratings announced 

that it has affirmed the long-term (LT IDR) rating of Aydem Renewable Energy as "B+" and revised 

its rating outlook from "Stable" to "Negative". 




